
Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable 
Development 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Lead Member for Planning and 
Sustainable Development to be held as follows for the transaction of the business 
indicated.

Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Tuesday, 10 September 2019

TIME: 1.00 pm

VENUE: Committee Room 4, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence. 

2  Declarations of interest. 

3  Items for Decision (Part 1 - Open to the Public): 

3a Salford Bolton Network Improvement Programme - A666 Manchester 
Road - A666 Bolton Road Area, Salford. 

(Pages 1 - 66)

3b City of Salford (Various Roads) Traffic Regulation Order 2019 (Pages 67 - 78)

3c Eccles and Patricroft Recreation Grounds, Barton - Section 106 
Investment. 

(Pages 79 - 82)

4  Exclusion of the Public. 

5  Decision Items (Part 2 - Closed to the Public): No Items. 

6  Any other business. 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 2602
Claire Edwards E-Mail: claire.edwards@salford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 1

Part 1 - Open to the Public ITEM NO.

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE

TO LEAD MEMBER FOR PLANNING AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

LEAD MEMBER BRIEFING

10th September 2019

TITLE: Salford Bolton Network Improvement Programme (SBNI - DP3)

City of Salford (A666 Manchester Road - A666 Bolton Road Area, Salford) (Bus 
Lane, Prohibition of Waiting, Loading – Unloading Restriction and Mandatory Cycle 

Lane)
(Traffic Regulation Order) 2019

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That the Lead Member for Strategic Planning and Sustainable Development consider 
the contents of this report and the deliberations of the Traffic Advisory Panel and 
makes a decision to approve the amended proposals as detailed in this report and 
implement accordingly

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) in conjunction with Salford City Council has 
developed a series of measures across the Salford and Bolton Network Improvement 
(SBNI) area to make the transport network more efficient. It aims to make travel 
easier for everyone, including public transport users, pedestrians, cyclists and 
drivers. Bus passengers in particular will see quicker, more reliable journey times.

The improvements will also help encourage economic growth by providing better 
access to local town centres, employment opportunities, health, education, retail and 
leisure facilities.

Funding for the improvements has been supported by Central Government through 
the Greater Manchester Local Growth Deal. 

A scheme within this programme has been identified for the A666 corridor, including 
Manchester Road, Clifton and Bolton Road, Pendlebury.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3a



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 2

The scheme seeks to introduce improved bus reliability by the provision of Regional 
Centre bound bus lanes, improved bus stop provision, improved cycle facilities as 
well as upgraded pedestrian crossing facilities.

As part of this scheme a suite of Traffic Regulation Orders are proposed including the 
Bus Lanes as well as the complementary waiting and loading restrictions that are 
required to ensure that the improvements are fully realise the anticipated benefits for 
buses, general traffic as well as cyclists and pedestrians.

The proposals were consulted initially with the Traffic Management Unit (TMU) on 1st 
August 2018 and comments were received.

These comments were reviewed and amendments were made to the detail of the 
scheme. TMU were consulted on the amended proposals on 9th November 2018 and 
no objections were received from TMU members to the amended scheme.

The Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO) to introduce the bus lanes and waiting and 
loading restrictions were advertised on the 7th March 2019 for a period of 21 days and 
73 objections were submitted to the proposal.

As a result of the objections, amendments have been made to the advertised 
proposal.

The matter was considered at a meeting of the Traffic Advisory Panel on the 13th 
June 2019. All objectors were invited to provide representation in respect of the 
proposed scheme. 18 Objectors attended meeting, 10 Objectors sent apology and 
representation. People in favour of the scheme also attended the meeting.

The Lead Member for Planning & Sustainable Development requested further 
information relating to the Outline Business Case, outcomes, benefits and Value for 
Money of the scheme in order to be satisfied that policy was properly arrived at and 
not in need of review. He indicated that, once this matter had been determined, he 
would make a decision regarding the proposed scheme at a future Lead Member 
Briefing.

BACKGROUND:

The Salford Bolton Network Improvement (SBNI) major scheme is promoted by 
Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM), with support from TfGM’ s delivery 
partners, Bolton Council (BC) and Salford City Council (SCC).  It will provide a 
comprehensive package of capital infrastructure improvements for pedestrians, 
cyclists, bus passengers, and general traffic, focused around a local transport and 
District Centre network that serves over 100,000 residents in Bolton and Salford and 
will benefit over 12 million bus passengers per year.

The SBNI programme is one of twelve major transport schemes being delivered 
through Local Growth Deal funding. It comprises of a series of discrete Delivery 
Packages which will collectively provide corridor-wide, multi-modal, local transport 

Page 2



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 3

infrastructure interventions to connect communities, make the network more efficient 
and reduce unpredictable delays.

This part of the SBNI scheme seeks to introduce Peak Hours (07:00 – 10:00 and 
16.00 – 19.00) Monday to Friday bus lanes on the A666 between the M60 junction at 
Clifton and Irlams o’th’ Height roundabout in a south easterly direction. 
Complementary mandatory cycle lanes and associated waiting and loading 
restrictions on the A666 Manchester Road and Bolton Road are also proposed as 
well as short lengths of waiting and loading restrictions on the side roads that 
connect to the A666 to improve the safety and efficiency of traffic flow at these 
junctions. There are also proposals to improve the bus stops and pedestrian crossing 
facilities.

A public consultation exercise was carried out last year by way of 2 drop in sessions 
(2nd August 2018 and 7th August 2018) to enable residents to view and comment on 
the proposals. These events were publicised by letter drop to the properties fronting 
the A666 corridor. 

A mixture of responses were received, with the draft scheme being amended where 
possible to reflect the comments received during the public consultation whilst still 
delivering on the primary aims of the project. 

The main changes proposed included:

 The removal and amendment where possible of parking restrictions outbound 
between Irlams o’th’ Height and Agecroft Road.

 A new controlled pedestrian/cycle crossing close to Westwood Drive

 Where possible additional areas of footway were widened.

A document of Frequently Asked Questions based on feedback from the drop-in 
sessions and from e-mail / postal correspondence was compiled and circulated along 
with the TRO consultation. 

The TRO was advertised within the local press on 7th March 2019 for 21 days. 
Additional notification of the proposal was made by placing site notices along the 
corridor as well as including the proposals on the Councils website, during which time 
73 objections were received to the proposals. 

The proposals were further reviewed and after considerations of the objections 
further changes were made, which included the removal of loading restrictions on the 
side streets, which will assist residents and businesses whilst not adversely affecting 
the operation of the overall scheme.

The amended Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) is detailed in the schedules which form 
part of this report.  

Page 3



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 4

PROPOSALS :( Amended Proposals following advertisement)

Amendment and Consolidation of Existing Orders

Appendix A

Column 1 Column 2
Order Extent of revocation

THE CITY OF SALFORD (A666 
MANCHESTER ROAD, SWINTON) 
(PROHIBITION OF WAITING AND LOADING / 
UNLOADING) ORDER 2004

Order revoked in its entirety

THE CITY OF SALFORD (MANCHESTER 
ROAD, CLIFTON, SWINTON) (PROHIBITION 
OF WAITING) ORDER 1999

Order revoked in its entirety

SALFORD CITY COUNCIL (WYNDHAM 
AVENUE / MANCHESTER ROAD, CLIFTON) 
(PROHIBITION OF WAITING) ORDER 2008

Order revoked in its entirety

THE CITY OF SALFORD (A666 
MANCHESTER ROAD AND BILLY LANE, 
CLIFTON, SWINTON) (PROHIBITION OF 
WAITING) ORDER 1988

Order revoked in its entirety

THE CITY OF SALFORD (A666 BOLTON 
ROAD, PENDLEBURY AND MANCHESTER 
ROAD, CLIFTON, SWINTON) (PROHIBITION 
OF WAITING) ORDER 1991

Order revoked in its entirety

SALFORD CITY COUNCIL (GASKELL 
STREET, SWINTON) (PROHIBITION OF 
WAITING) ORDER 2011

Order revoked in its entirety

THE CITY OF SALFORD (A666 
MANCHESTER ROAD, CLIFTON, SWINTON) 
(PROHIBITION OF WAITING) ORDER 1988

Order revoked in its entirety

THE CITY OF SALFORD (A666 BOLTON 
ROAD AND WORSLEY STREET, 
PENDLEBURY) (PROHIBITION OF WAITING) 
AND (PEAK HOUR LOADING/UNLOADING 
RESTRICTIONS ORDER 1989

Order revoked in its entirety

THE CITY OF SALFORD (KERSAL 
AVENUE/BOLTON ROAD, PENDLEBURY) 
(PROHIBITION OF WAITING ORDER 1996) 
AMENDMENT ORDER 1997

Order revoked in its entirety

THE CITY OF SALFORD (BOLTON ROAD 
AND HOSPITAL ROAD, PENDLEBURY, 
SWINTON) (WAITING RESTRICTIONS) 
ORDER, 1989

Order revoked in its entirety

Page 4



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 5

THE CITY OF SALFORD ( BOLTON ROAD, 
PENDLEBURY, SWINTON) (PROHIBITION 
OF WAITING) ORDER, 1987

Order revoked in its entirety

THE CITY OF SALFORD (BOLTON ROAD, 
PENDLEBURY) (PROHIBITION OF WAITING) 
ORDER 1995

Order revoked in its entirety

THE GREATER MANCHESTER (COUNTY 
(BOLTON ROAD AND STATION ROAD, 
SWINTON) (PROHIBITION OF WAITING) 
(COUNTY) ORDER 1975.

by the deletion of the following 
lengths of road from the Schedules 
to the Order as specified below.

Bolton Road, Pendlebury

(a) both sides from its junction with 
Station Road in a north westerly 
direction to the southerly kerbline of 
Ramsden Fold

THE CITY OF SALFORD (BOLTON ROAD, 
RANELAGH ROAD, SHIRLEY AVENUE AND 
AGECROFT ROAD, PENDLEBURY) (THE 
GREATER MANCHESTER COUNTY 
(BOLTON ROAD, RANELAGH ROAD, 
SHIRLEY AVENUE AND AGECROFT ROAD, 
PENDLEBURY) (PROHIBITION OF WAITING) 
(COUNTY) ORDER 1983) REVOCATION 
ORDER 1989

Order revoked in its entirety

THE GREATER MANCHESTER COUNTY 
(BOLTON ROAD, RANELAGH ROAD, 
SHIRLEY AVENUE AND AGECROFT ROAD, 
PENDLEBURY) (PROHIBITION OF WAITING) 
(COUNTY) ORDER 1983

by the deletion of the following 
lengths of road from the Schedule to 
the Order as specified below.

Bolton Road, South west side
from the south easterly kerbline of 
Ranelagh Road south eastwards to 
the north westerly kerbline of 
Beverley Road; a distance of 94 
metres.
Shirley Avenue, Both sides, 
from its junction with Bolton Road in 
a south westerly direction for a 
distance of 35 metres.

And Introduce New TRO’s 

Appendix: B
SCHEDULE 1
Prohibition of Waiting - Mon – Fri 7.00 am to 10 am & 4.00 pm to 7.00 pm

A666 
Manchester 
Road

North east side, from a point 23 metres north of the northern projected 
kerbline of Billy Lane to the M60 off Slip Road in a north easterly 
direction.

Page 5



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 6

A666 
Manchester 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres north of the northern projected 
kerbline of Fitton Crescent (south access) to the M60 off Slip Road 
(opposite) in a north westerly direction.

A666 
Manchester 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres north of the northern projected 
kerbline of Wyndham Avenue to a point 10 metres south of the southern 
projected kerbline of Wroe Street in a northerly direction.

A666 
Manchester 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres north of the northern projected 
kerbline of Gaskell Street to a point 10 metres south of the southern 
projected kerbline of Wyndham Avenue in a northerly direction.

A666 
Manchester 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres north of the northern projected 
kerbline of Berry Street to a point 10 metres south of the southern 
projected kerbline of Gaskell Street in a northerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres north of the northern projected 
kerbline of Worsley Street to a point 10 metres south of the southern 
projected kerbline of Little Moss Lane in a northerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

North east side, from a point 10 metres north western extended 
projected kerbline of Kersal Avenue to a point 10 metres south eastern 
projected kerbline of Crescent Avenue in a northerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South West side, from a point 10 metres north west of the northern 
projected kerbline of Hospital Road  to a point 10 metres (opposite 
extended ) north western projected kerbline of Crescent Avenue in a 
north westerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres north of the northern projected 
kerbline of Waverley Road to a point 10 metres south of the south 
eastern projected kerbline of Beverley Road in a northerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres north of the northern projected 
kerbline of Fairway to a point 10 metres south of the south eastern 
projected kerbline of Waverley Road in a northerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

North east side, from the north western projected kerbline of the 
northern access of Rivington Crescent to a point 10 in a northerly 
direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

North east side, from a point opposite the northerly projected extended 
kerbline of Westwood Drive for a distance of 103 metres in a northerly 
direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

North east side, from a point 15 metres of the northerly projected 
kerbline of Broomhall Road for a distance of 116 metres in a northerly 
direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

North east side, from a point 15 metres south of the southerly projected 
kerbline of Broomhall Road for a distance of 84 metres in a southerly 
direction. 

 

Page 6



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 7

SCHEDULE 2
No Loading / Unloading Mon – Fri 7.00 am to 10.00 am & 4.00 pm to 7 pm

A666 
Manchester 
Road/ 
A666 
Bolton 
Road

Both sides, from the south western extended projected kerbline of 
Station Road to the M60 off Slip Road in a north easterly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Hospital Road to a point 10 metres (opposite extended ) 
north western projected kerbline of Crescent Avenue in a north westerly 
direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

North east side, from the north western projected kerbline of the 
northern access of Rivington Crescent to a point 10 in a northerly 
direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Hawthorn Drive to a point 10 metres north of the northern 
projected kerbline of Hawthorn Drive in a north westerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Osborne Drive to a point 10 metres north of the northern 
projected kerbline of Osborne Drive in a north westerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of the Greater Manchester Fire Service Headquarters service 
yard to a point 10 metres north of the northern projected kerbline of the 
Greater Manchester Fire Service Headquarters service yard in a north 
westerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of the Greater Manchester Fire Service Headquarters entrance 
to a point 10 metres north of the northern projected kerbline of the 
Greater Manchester Fire Service Headquarters entrance in a north 
westerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from point 10 metres south of southern projected 
kerbline of Fairway to a point 10 metres north western projected 
kerbline of Ranelagh Road in a northerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

North east side, from a point opposite the northern projected extended 
kerbline of Westwood Drive for a distance of 103 metres in a northerly 
direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

North east side, from a point 15 metres of the northern projected 
kerbline of Broomhall Road for a distance of 116 metres in a northerly 
direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

North east side, from a point 15 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Broomhall Road for a distance of 84 metres in a southerly 
direction. 

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the south western 
projected kerbline of Westwood Drive to a point 10 metres north 
western projected kerbline of Westwood Drive in a northerly direction.

Page 7



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 8

SCHEDULE 3
Prohibition of Waiting Mon - Fri 7.00 am to 7.00 pm

A666 
Manchester 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres north of the northern projected 
kerbline of Wroe Street to a point 10 metres south of the southern 
projected kerbline of Fitton Crescent (southern access).

A666 
Manchester 
Road / 
Bolton 
Road

North East side, from the southern extended back of footway projected 
kerbline of Billy Lane to south of the southern projected kerbline of 
Ramsden Fold in a southerly direction.

A666 
Manchester 
Road

South West side, from a point 10 metres north of the northern projected 
kerbline of Little Moss Lane to a point 10 metres south of the southern 
projected kerbline of Holt Street in a northerly direction.

SCHEDULE 4
No Waiting at Any Time
A666 
Manchester 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Fitton Crescent (south access) to a point 10 metres north of 
the northern projected kerbline of Fitton Crescent (south access) in a 
northerly direction.

A666 
Manchester 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Wroe Street, to a point 10 metres north of the northern 
projected kerbline of Wroe Street in a northerly direction.

A666 
Manchester 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Wyndham Avenue to a point 10 metres north of the northern 
projected kerbline of Wyndham Avenue in a northerly direction.

A666 
Manchester 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Gaskell Street to a point 10 metres north of the northern 
projected kerbline of Gaskell Street in a northerly direction.

A666 
Manchester 
Road

North east side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Billy Lane to a point 23 metres north of the northern 
extended projected kerbline of Billy Lane in a northerly direction.

A666 
Manchester 
Road

South West side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Holt Street to a point 10 metres north of the northern 
projected kerbline of Berry Street in a northerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road 
/A666 
Manchester 
Road 

South West side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Little Moss Lane to a point 10 metres north of the northern 
projected kerbline of Little Moss Lane in a northerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South West side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern extended 
projected kerbline of Worsley Street to a point 10 metres north of the 
northern projected kerbline of Worsley Street in a northerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

Both sides, from the north western extended projected kerbline of 
Station Road to the southerly projected kerbline of Ramsden Fold in a 
north westerly direction.

Page 8



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 9

A666 
Bolton 
Road

North east side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Crescent Avenue, to a point 10 metres north of the northern 
projected kerbline of Crescent Avenue in a northerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

North east side, from a point 15 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Kersal Avenue, to a point 10 metres north of the northern 
projected kerbline of Kersal Avenue in a northerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Hospital Road, to a point 10 metres north of the northern 
projected kerbline of Hospital Road in a northerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Hawthorn Drive to a point 10 metres north of the northern 
projected kerbline of Hawthorn Drive in a north westerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Osborne Drive to a point 10 metres north of the northern 
projected kerbline of Osborne Drive in a north westerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of the Greater Manchester Fire Service Headquarters service 
yard to a point 10 metres north of the northern projected kerbline of the 
Greater Manchester Fire Service Headquarters service yard in a north 
westerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of the Greater Manchester Fire Service Headquarters entrance 
to a point 10 metres north of the northern projected kerbline of the 
Greater Manchester Fire Service Headquarters entrance in a north 
westerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the south eastern 
projected kerbline of Beverley Road to a point 10 metres north western 
projected kerbline of Ranelagh Road in a north westerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Waverly Road to a point 10 metres north eastern projected 
kerbline of Waverly Road in a northerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the southern projected 
kerbline of Fair Way to a point 10 metres north of the northern projected 
kerbline of Fairway in a north westerly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

South west side, from a point 10 metres south of the south eastern 
projected kerbline of Westwood Drive to a point 10 metres north 
western projected kerbline of Westwood Drive in a northerly direction.

Fitton 
Crescent 
(South 
access)

Both sides, from the western extended projected kerbline of A666 
Manchester Road for a distance of 15 metres in a westerly direction.

Wroe 
Street

Both sides, from the western extended projected kerbline of A666 
Manchester Road for a distance of 10 metres in a westerly direction.

Wyndham 
Avenue

Both sides, from the western extended projected kerbline of A666 
Manchester Road for a distance of 15 metres.in a westerly direction

Gaskell 
Street

Both sides, from the western extended projected kerbline of A666 
Manchester Road for a distance of 15 metres in a westerly direction.

Page 9



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 10

Billy Lane Both sides, from the north eastern extended projected kerbline of A666 
Manchester Road for a distance of 10 metres in an easterly direction.

Berry 
Street

North side, from the western extended projected kerbline of A666 
Manchester Road for a distance of 10 metres in a westerly direction.

Holt Street South side, from the western extended projected kerbline of Manchester 
Road for a distance of 10 metres in a westerly direction.

Little Moss 
Lane

Both sides, from the western extended projected kerbline of A666 
Manchester Road for a distance of 10 metres in a north westerly 
direction.

Worsley 
Street

Both sides, from the western extended projected kerbline of A666 
Bolton Road for a distance of 31 metres in a westerly direction.

Crescent 
Avenue

Both sides, from the north eastern projected kerbline of A666 Bolton 
Road for a distance of 10 metres in a north easterly direction.

Kersal 
Avenue

Both sides, from the north eastern projected kerbline of A666 Bolton 
Road for a distance of 10 metres in a north easterly direction.

Hospital 
Road

Both sides, from the south western extended projected kerbline of A666 
Bolton Road for a distance of 15 metres in a south westerly direction.

Hawthorn 
Drive

Both sides, from the south western extended projected kerbline of 
Bolton Road for a distance of 10 metres in a south westerly direction.

Osborne 
Drive

Both sides, from the south western extended projected kerbline of 
Bolton Road for a distance of 10 metres in a south westerly direction.

Shirley 
Avenue

North west side, from the western projected kerbline of A666 Bolton 
Road for a distance of 35 metres in a south westerly direction.

Shirley 
Avenue

South east side, from the western projected kerbline of A666 Bolton 
Road for a distance of 8 metres in a south westerly direction.

Beverley 
Road

Both sides, from the south western projected kerbline of A666 Bolton 
Road for a distance of 10 metres in a south westerly direction.

Waverley 
Road

Both sides, from the south western projected kerbline of Bolton Road for 
a distance of 10 metres in a south westerly direction.

Fairway Both sides, from the south western projected kerbline of Bolton Road for 
a distance of 10 metres in a south westerly direction.

Westwood 
Drive

North side, from the south western projected kerbline of A666 Bolton 
Road for a distance of 10 metres in a south westerly direction.

Schedule: 5
Introduce Bus Lane Mon-Fri 7.00 am to 10.00 am & 4.00 pm to 7.00 pm
Road 
Name Detail

A666 
Manchester 
Road

North east side, from a point 56 metres south of its junction with the 
south eastern projected kerbline of Wynne Avenue to a point 110 
metres south of the south eastern projected kerbline of Billy Lane in a 
south easterly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

North east side, from a point 37 metres south east of the projected 
kerbline of Rivington Crescent (north west access) to a point 49 metres 
south east of the projected kerbline of Rivington Crescent (south east 
access) in a south easterly direction.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

East side, from a point 51 metres south east of the southern projected 
kerbline of Fairway (opposite) to a point 18 metres north of the northern 
projected kerbline of Broomhall Road in a southerly direction.

Page 10



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 11

Schedule: 6
Introduce Toucan Crossing 

Road 
Name

Location Detail

A666 
Manchester 
Road

The midpoint of crossing will 
be located at 28 metres north 
west from the extended 
northern kerbline of Gaskell 
Street

The toucan crossing will be 4 metres 
(3+4+3) in width, 14 metres in length 
with zig-zags extending from a point 5 
metres centre of the crossing extending 
18 metres in south east and 18 metres 
in north west of the of the Crossing.

A666 
Bolton 
Road

The midpoint of crossing will 
be located at 19 metres from 
the northern extended 
kerbline of Westwood Drive

The toucan crossing will be 4 metres 
(3+4+3) in width, 11 metres in length 
with zig-zags extending from a point 5 
metres centre of the crossing extending 
15 metres in south east and 13 metres 
in north west of the of the Crossing.

CONSIDERATION OF OBJECTIONS:

The following summarises the points raised by the 73 objectors to the proposal and 
the commentary provides a detailed response to the points raised:

Objection Category - Justification
The following is a list of objection points that relate to the justification of the scheme:

o Lack of justification for the proposal;
o No need for PM peak inbound restrictions, outbound bus lane required 

for evening peak;
o Proposal will help commuters to the disbenefit of Salford residents, bus 

passengers passing through will not contribute to Salford;
o Increased parking by bus users causing problems;
o Waste of money, poor value for money, need to spend money on other 

priorities;
o The scheme only benefits one private bus operating company;
o Bus Lanes do not work;
o Passenger survey data not available;
o Bus improvements are required in Kearsley and Farnworth to improve 

services in Salford;
o Are GM Bus Lanes fully utilised and is there room for Private Hire 

Vehicles, Warrington allow PHV’s in Bus Lanes, why are they not 
allowed in Greater Manchester . GM should allow PHV's or trial PHV's 
in bus lanes;

o Does Salford need more bus lanes?

Page 11



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 12

Response

The A666, like other key routes in Greater Manchester, experiences congestion 
during peak hours. As set out in the Mayor's Congestion Deal for Greater 
Manchester, congestion can affect economic growth, deter investment, exacerbate 
noise and air pollution and also impacts on the punctuality and reliability of the local 
bus network. 

Travelling by bus presents a more sustainable way of travelling for thousands of 
people each day, particularly at peak times. For example, a bus can carry around 60-
70 people in the same amount of road space taken up by two cars. 

The bus lanes proposed on the A666 will help to make bus travel more punctual and 
reliable providing benefits for bus passengers using the four different services that 
operate on all or part of the A666 between the M60 off-slip (Junction 16 M60) and the 
Irlams o’th’ Height roundabout. Based on current service patterns, 123 buses travel 
on the Manchester-bound section of the A666 between the M60 off-slip (Junction 16 
M60) and Station Road on a standard weekday. 103 buses per day travel on the 
Manchester-bound section of the A666 between Rivington Crescent and Agecroft 
Road and 104 use the section between Agecroft Road and the Irlams o’th’ Height 
roundabout. The number of buses using these sections of the bus lane in the 
morning peak hour (08:00 – 09:00) is 8, 7 and 7 respectively. Occupancy counts 
undertaken in September 2018 have identified that these services are well-used with 
an average of approximately 300 bus passengers using these services in the 
morning peak hour on a daily basis.

This proposal will assist bus users in Salford by helping to deliver more reliable bus 
services. It also has the potential to encourage the use of bus travel to destinations 
across Salford as well as reducing car borne travel. 

The proposals will be implemented by better utilising the available existing road 
space, via limited widening of the carriageway and without reducing the number of 
general traffic lanes. By implementing dedicated space for buses at the busiest times 
of day and by providing additional road space for all vehicles on the approach to the 
Irlams o’th’ Height roundabout  the scheme will help provide journey time benefits for 
many road users. In addition, the scheme will provide enhanced facilities for 
pedestrians and cyclists through the provision of shared bus/cycle lanes, the 
upgrading of an existing uncontrolled crossing to a signal controlled crossing for 
pedestrians and cyclists and by increasing the width of an existing advisory cycle 
lane and upgrading this facility to a mandatory cycle lane. The provision of improved 
cycle and pedestrian facilities will help to increase the accessibility of businesses and 
services along the A666 corridor for local people.

Levels of congestion on the A666 are most significant during the morning and 
evening peaks. As such, introducing a bus lane that is operational during these hours 
will provide the greatest benefit for bus passengers and general traffic in terms of 
journey time savings and reliability benefits. Adopting these hours of operation for the 
proposed bus lanes will also ensure that they align with the operational hours of other 
bus lanes across Greater Manchester – ensuring consistency and reducing confusion 
for road users. For the same reasons of consistency and reducing confusion, 

Page 12



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 13

Salford’s policy on not allowing Private Hire Taxis in bus lanes is also in line with the 
Greater Manchester policy

Salford City Council supports Bus Lanes on routes where it can be demonstrated that 
they will provide sufficient benefits for bus passengers and do not result in significant 
impacts on the operation of the highway.

A wide range of potential schemes have been considered as part of SBNI and the 
decision on which schemes were included within the programme was based upon 
anticipated benefits, deliverability, construction costs and the priorities of Bolton 
Council and Salford City Council. As part of this process consideration was given to 
the provision of bus lanes in Kearsley and Clifton on the south-eastbound approach 
to junction 16 of the M60. However, it is not proposed to progress bus lanes in these 
locations due to a detailed traffic modelling exercise demonstrating that they would 
not provide significant journey time benefits for buses or general traffic.

It is recognised that an outbound bus lane has the potential to provide significant 
journey time savings for buses in the evening peak. However, due to physical 
constraints, there is insufficient space to accommodate bus lanes on both the 
inbound and outbound sides of the A666. Given the largest benefits for buses can be 
delivered in the morning peak, the inbound carriageway was therefore chosen as the 
best location for the lanes.

The funding for the scheme is provided through the Central Government Local 
Growth Deal fund and is specifically allocated to transport schemes. It cannot be 
used for the numerous other priorities that the objectors have suggested. In 
particular, the Local Growth Deal funding can only be used for capital expenditure 
and the repairing of pot holes and other routine maintenance would not fall within the 
definition of this and, as such, the capital funding assigned to the scheme could not 
be used for this purpose. These proposals meet the Central Government Local 
Growth Deal funding criteria set out by Greater Manchester Combined Authority.

Objection Category - Highway Capacity and Operation

o Proposal will increase congestion and delays, reduce traffic 
speed/increase travel time;

o The road is not wide enough for bus lane, the bus lane does not give an 
extra lane/loss of traffic lane and will narrow the road/provide narrow 
lanes;

o The stop/start design of the bus lane will increase congestion; the 
Smart M60 will increase traffic on A666, both of which will increase 
queue length on M60 slip onto M60. The right turning traffic will hold up 
traffic;

o There will be busier side streets due to rat running and this will cause 
increased difficulties for side road traffic joining the A666;

o Existing signals/crossings add to delays, need to ensure all signals 
along the route are linked;

Page 13



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 14

o Salford cannot afford to lose highway capacity, nothing is ever done to 
improve traffic flow, just bus and cycles;

o Doubts expressed over modelling as old data was used in the 
assessment;

o Existing traffic volumes are the issue and there will be no change in  
traffic flow as a result of this proposal;

o There isn’t a problem on the A666; some comments highlighted some 
general road safety concerns as well as concerns over the increase in 
air and noise pollution.

Response

Extensive traffic modelling has been undertaken to assess the impact of the 
proposed scheme on the highway network. This modelling has been undertaken in 
accordance with best practice and relevant guidance and has utilised data from a 
range of sources, including traffic count data, bluetooth journey time data, site visit 
data / local observations, dash camera footage and registered bus service data. In 
accordance with industry standards, data obtained has been factored accordingly 
where necessary.

This modelling exercise has indicated that the scheme would have an overall positive 
impact on bus journey times and the level of benefit is significant when factored by 
the number of bus passengers. These forecast journey time savings are most 
significant in the morning peak and on the section of Bolton Road between the 
junction with Rivington Crescent and the Irlams o’th Height roundabout. The journey 
time savings in the morning peak have been identified as approximately 3 minutes 
per bus and 2 minutes for general traffic per vehicle traveling on the A666 from the 
M60 junction at Clifton to The Heights Roundabout in a south easterly direction.
Journey time savings are still accrued in the evening peak, albeit to a lesser degree, 
but the proposed bus lanes would provide reliability benefits for bus services 
operating on Bolton Road in the morning and evening peaks and inter peak period, 
providing resilience to the bus network should incidents happen across the highway 
network at these times.

The journey time benefits identified above are principally driven by the fact the bus 
lane proposals will be implemented by better utilising the available road space, via 
limited widening of the carriageway and without reducing the number of general 
traffic lanes. Additionally the bus lane proposals from Waverley Rd to Irlams o’ th’ 
Height will provide additional road space for all vehicles by extending the two lanes 
on the roundabout approach which contributes to the anticipated journey time 
savings for the intervention. The scheme ensures that all lane widths meet or exceed 
acceptable standards and guidance.

Furthermore the bus lane interventions do not make significant changes to the 
outbound general traffic lanes and as such there are minimal anticipated impacts on 
the outbound journey times when comparing the existing road layout to the proposed 
arrangements.

The scheme also aims to improve cycling and pedestrian connections along and 
across the A666. In particular, facilities for cyclists will be improved through the 

Page 14



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 15

provision of shared bus/cycle lanes on the inbound side of the A666 and by 
increasing the width of an existing advisory cycle lane on the outbound side of the 
A666 and upgrading this facility to a mandatory cycle lane. Pedestrian facilities will 
also be improved through the upgrading of an existing uncontrolled crossing to a 
signal controlled crossing and the provision of dropped kerbs and tactile paving on 
side roads.

Given the anticipated improvements for general traffic, it is not anticipated that rat 
running along residential streets will increase as a direct result of this proposal. 
Traffic congestion along the A666 corridor will improve so queuing on the M60 or at 
the start of the bus lane scheme is not anticipated to worsen as a result of this 
scheme. Furthermore, Highways England are aware of the proposals and have not 
raised any objection.

The scheme itself, does not aim to increase traffic movements along the corridor, 
although it is acknowledged that some drivers may change their route following the 
improvement in journey times. Given this scenario, drivers who currently experience 
difficulties joining the busy A666 are likely to still do so.
  

Objection Category - Parking Restrictions

o Some residents have no alternative but to park on the road, parking 
restrictions devalue homes and there will be an increase in car crime and 
motor insurance issues;

o Parking will transfer onto side streets which will lead to obstruction of side 
streets by additional parking;

o Restrictions on side roads not necessary;
o Reduced on street parking will be available for businesses as well as reduced 

loading opportunities for local businesses;
o The future of existing advisory disabled bays has been raised as well as 

objection to one specific area of the A666 which has been considered in detail;
o The 'matching' evening peak restrictions are not required on the outbound 

lane, no problems in AM peak . 

Response

The parking restrictions contained within this proposal are required to ensure that the 
full benefits, including the journey time benefits for general traffic and buses, 
provided by the scheme are realised. In particular, the restrictions are required to 
ensure all traffic lanes operate safely and that traffic flows are not unduly affected by 
parked vehicles.

At the time of the public consultation exercise on the scheme it was proposed that 
complementary parking restrictions on the outbound side of the A666 would be 
introduced between the Irlams o’th Height roundabout and the junction with Agecroft 
Road.  However, following feedback from the consultation events, the scheme design 
has been amended and these parking restrictions on the outbound side of the A666 
have been removed or minimised as far as possible. 

Page 15



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 16

There are many lengths of the A666 that are already subject to parking restrictions, 
some of these existing restrictions are simply having the timings amended to be 
consistent with the operational times of the bus lanes; in some circumstances these 
hours will be less restrictive that the current restrictions.

The restrictions contained on the side roads are simply junction protection 
restrictions. This highlights, in accordance with the Highway Code, that drivers 
should not park close to a junction, to allow that junction to operate effectively and 
that vehicles parked close to the junctions, do not compromise the safety of road 
users and pedestrians.

It is accepted that many residents across the City have no or insufficient off street 
parking provision for the number of vehicles that they chose to keep at home. 
Unfortunately, it is not the Council’s (as Highways Authority) responsibility to provide 
and maintain the highway to provide parking for the benefit of residents and 
businesses. Parking on the highway is permitted at many locations, but on busy 
corridors, such as the A666 this parking demand has to be managed to enable the 
highway to function efficiently and safely. This is particularly relevant as within the 
objections to this proposal traffic congestion and delays on the A666 are a key 
theme.

Some parking demand may transfer to unrestricted lengths of road, however, 
obstruction of the side streets can be dealt with by GMP and if persistent this can be 
dealt with by the introduction of further traffic regulation orders These proposals are 
designed not to be over restrictive in terms of the length covered by the restriction or 
the hours of operation with parking permitted outside the operational hours on many 
sections of the A666 corridor.

Objection Category - Bus Issues

o Buses are unreliable, infrequent, expensive and not popular;
o Buses are not accessible/viable for all people/ all journeys;
o Buses don’t serve many locations or the places people want to go 

(Quays, Media City, Trafford Park);
o There are already enough buses that are never full, there are a minority 

of people that use the bus;
o No plans to increase services as part of this proposal;
o Old/Dirty buses generate more pollution than numerous cars;
o Bolton bound buses are late in the morning and the Number 8 doesn't 

go into the city centre;
o It would be better to provide a bus lane on A6 as there are more bus 

services.

Response  

Travelling by bus presents a more sustainable way of travelling for thousands of 
people each day, particularly at peak times. For example, a bus can carry around 60-
70 people in the same amount of road space taken up by two cars.

Page 16



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 17

Four different bus services that operate on all or part of the A666 between the M60 
off-slip (Junction 16 M60) and the Irlams o’th’ Height roundabout. These are: 

 2: Bolton – Trafford Centre 
 8: Bolton – Manchester
 75: Pendleton – Agecroft – Seedley Circular
 484: Eccles – Whitefield

Based on current service patterns, 123 buses travel on the Manchester-bound 
section of the A666 between the M60 off-slip (Junction 16 M60) and Station Road on 
a standard weekday. 103 buses per day travel on the Manchester-bound section of 
the A666 between Rivington Crescent and Agecroft Road and 104 use the section 
between Agecroft Road and the Irlams o’th’ Height roundabout. The number of buses 
using these sections of the bus lane in the morning peak hour (08:00 – 09:00) is 8, 7 
and 7 respectively. Occupancy counts undertaken in September 2018 have identified 
that these services are well-used with an average of approximately 300 bus 
passengers using these services in the morning peak hour.

The bus lanes proposed on the A666 will make bus travel more punctual and reliable 
by providing journey time savings for services operating on the A666 between the 
M60 junction at Clifton and the Irlams o’th Height Roundabout in a south easterly 
direction and by making these journey times between these points less variable. 

The scheme will therefore improve connections by bus from Bolton and Salford to 
Manchester City Centre and to other destinations, such as Salford Shopping Centre, 
which provide connections to many other destinations including The Quays and 
MediaCityUK.

Objection Category - Non Motorised Users

o Removing the footway will create parking problems;
o Existing narrow footpath is an issue, the reduced footway width will be 

detrimental to pedestrians, carriageway widening /pavement narrowing 
will create a blind spot

o Concern over loss of cycle facility at Heights roundabout exit;
o An additional crossing is requested near Wynne Ave to assist bus 

passengers at this location.

Response -

The extent of carriageway widening required to implement the scheme has been 
minimised and in the small number of areas where this is required appropriate 
footway width remains.

The proposals avoid reducing the existing footway width wherever possible with any 
of the existing narrow footway areas unaffected by the proposals.
Wherever feasible the existing narrow footways have been widened by up to 500mm, 
but this cannot always be achieved. 

Page 17



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 18

Where the kerbline is being altered, the give way line for side roads will also be 
altered to ensure the required level of visibility is maintained.

The road layout at the approach to the Irlams o’th Height roundabout has been 
changed so that there are two lanes rather than the one (which currently only flares 
to two lanes very close to the roundabout). This has been done to reduce congestion 
when travelling southbound and contributes benefits for  all vehicles. However, to 
accommodate this it is necessary to start the northbound cycle lane approximately 
30m north of its current position. The southbound cycle facility has been maintained 
all the way to the roundabout.

A new puffin crossing was considered close to Wynne Avenue, but there is not 
sufficient room to install one between the junctions and accesses. The existing 
crossing between Wyndham Avenue and Gaskell Street is being retained and moved 
slightly north and therefore be closer to Wynne Avenue.

An uncontrolled crossing near Westwood Drive will also be upgraded to a signal 
controlled crossing for pedestrians and cyclists. 

Objection Category - Alternative Proposals

o Improvements to The Height roundabout and Station Road signals will 
improve traffic flow for all, including buses;

o The provision of/ reinstatement of two lanes by removing the existing 
hatching and cycle lanes will improve capacity for all traffic in both 
directions, with the introduction of additional restrictions;

o Rail electrification will remove traffic as will the introduction P&R at 
Clifton Junction and Kearsley;

o Real benefit will only be delivered by installing longer lengths of 
continuous bus lanes into Bolton, with contraflow to operate during 
differing peaks.

Response - 

A wide range of potential schemes have been considered as part of SBNI and the 
decision on which schemes were included within the programme was based upon 
anticipated benefits, deliverability, construction costs and the priorities of Bolton 
Council and Salford City Council. As part of this process, consideration has been 
given to the provision of bus lanes in Kearsley and Clifton on the south-eastbound 
approach to junction 16 of the M60 and junction improvement schemes at the Irlams 
o’th Height roundabout and Manchester Road/Station Road junctions. However, it is 
not proposed to progress bus lanes in Kearsley and Clifton due to a detailed traffic 
modelling exercise demonstrating that these proposals would not result in significant 
journey time benefits for buses or general traffic. Similarly, it has not been possible to 
develop proposals for the Irlams o’th Height roundabout and Manchester 
Road/Station Road junctions which will improve the performance of the highway 
network in these locations.

Page 18



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 19

The proposed scheme has been developed as a single traffic lane for general traffic 
alongside a dedicated bus lane on the inbound side of the A666 rather than two 
dedicated lanes for general traffic. The modelling has however demonstrated that the 
proposed arrangement will deliver significant benefits for buses and general traffic. 

Rail improvements are not within the scope of this project.

Objection Category - Other Issues

o This will lead to congestion charging or Clean Air zone charges by 
stealth and this scheme should be delayed until the GM clean air 
proposals are delivered;

o Bus lanes are not successful, they have been suspended at Eccles Old 
Road suspended and some removed in Liverpool and Bury;

o This is a money making scheme, due to enforcement;
o There is a need to increase enforcement of existing bus lanes;
o Moving the road closer to houses will increase existing vibrations and 

move pollution closer to houses;
o Ban HGV between M60 and Trafford Park from A666;
o Request for yellow boxes at side roads;
o Residents will not be able to park on their own drives;
o If scheme does not proceed who pays for costs to date;
o Need to increase air quality monitoring as part of scheme and suspend 

it if air quality declines;
o Construction alone will cause problems in neighbourhood and the 

proposal will damage the local economy.

Response

This proposal is not linked to the GM Clean Air proposals, but a better more reliable 
bus service has the potential to offer Salford residents a real alternative to using cars 
to many destinations. This proposal also improves pedestrian and cycle facilities to 
encourage these modes, particularly for shorter, local trips and these will contribute 
to improving air quality. 

The Bus Lanes on Eccles Old Road have been suspended whilst some changes are 
being made to the car parking arrangements at Salford Royal. Once this work has 
been undertaken the City Council will review the extent and operation of the Bus 
Lanes. Buses are an essential part of the transport network in Greater Manchester, 
helping to move a significant number of people around the region and city centre and 
providing a more sustainable way to move significant numbers of people at the 
busiest times of day. Although there are examples of bus lanes being suspended in 
other city regions, whether a bus lane can be introduced without having an 
unacceptable impact on general traffic is ultimately dependent on local 
circumstances. The bus lanes proposed on the A666 will be implemented by better 
utilising the available road space, via limited widening of the carriageway and without 
reducing the number of general traffic lanes and the traffic modelling undertaken to 

Page 19



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 20

assess the impact of the proposals has indicated that the scheme would have a 
beneficial impact on the performance of the highway network. 

This scheme was subject to consultation drop in sessions last summer. Prior to the 
public engagement events taking place, letters were sent to the 644 properties with 
either direct frontage or line of sight to the A666 to notify residents of the proposed 
scheme and the engagement events. Where possible and appropriate, changes have 
been made to the proposals in response to comments made during these events. 
Changes include the removal of parking restrictions at locations where footway 
parking does not obstruct use of the footway, the inclusion of a new controlled 
crossing and the widening of a narrow section of footway.

The A666 is a major classified route that has no restrictions on preventing its use by 
goods vehicles. Furthermore, the business and residential properties located along 
and near to the A666 require an element of servicing by goods vehicles. As such, it is 
not possible to prevent the use of this road by heavy goods vehicles.

Yellow Boxes have been requested by the Highways Task Groups for the area and 
have not been provided to date. These are not considered to be justified at these 
locations and will not be provided as part of this proposal. Once the scheme is 
delivered, residents may again contact the relevant Highways Task Group providing 
further detail of the difficulties encountered and this can be considered at that time.

These proposals will not prevent residents from using their existing driveways. As 
with any major highway or other construction scheme, there will be a degree of 
disruption in the locality whilst is the works are being carried out. This will be 
managed with appropriate control measures, time limits during construction as well 
as relevant and appropriate communication from the project delivery team during 
construction.

The City Council have been increasing the number of bus lane enforcement sites 
across the network. This scheme will include enforcement locations to ensure that 
drivers comply with the bus lane restriction during the operational times. This is not a 
‘money making’ scheme as only drivers who choose to contravene the bus lane 
would be liable to a bus lane penalty charge.

Where the kerb is being moved closer to properties, this is only by a small distance, 
and it is considered that the distance between the new kerbline and the properties is 
such that it will not increase vibration.

DELIBERATIONS OF THE TRAFFIC ADVISORY PANEL:

The matter was considered at a meeting of the Traffic Advisory Panel on the 13th 
June 2019 (Appendix G). The objectors were informed of the date of the meeting 
inviting them to provide representation in respect of the proposed scheme. Objectors 
and people in favour attended the meeting.

Page 20



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 21

The Lead Member for Planning & Sustainable Development requested further 
information relating to the Outline Business Case, outcomes, benefits and Value for 
Money of the scheme in order to be satisfied that policy was properly arrived at and 
not in need of review. He indicated that, once this matter had been determined, he 
would make a decision regarding the proposed scheme at a future Lead Member 
Briefing.

RECOMMENDATION:

 It is recommended that following consideration of the objections received, the 
consideration of the additional report that has been considered by The City 
Mayor, that the scheme be introduced with the amended proposal for TROs to 
remove a section of restriction where there are advisory disabled parking bays 
and remove the loading bans in the side roads. As part of the detailed design 
‘KEEP CLEAR’ road marking will be installed at the side roads serving the 
Westwood Estate.

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  Local Transport Plan

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

The proposed improvements including the bus lanes, waiting restrictions, loading / 
unloading restrictions will make the highway network and surrounding area more 
accessible for all road users. Where possible, amendments to the restrictions have 
been made, in response to representations received during the advertising of the 
proposal.

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low Risk: 

Each package of schemes will be individually developed and will individually follow 
the council’s approval process. The works are of a similar nature to projects delivered 
previously and the City Council and TfGM have appropriate project management 
processes in place.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: 
'Where objections are received by the Council following the advertisement of 
proposals, the decision regarding the implementation of the proposals is delegated to 
the relevant Lead Member for determination, following consultation with the Council’s 
Traffic Advisory Panel.  Adhering to this procedure should not give rise to any legal 
implications. 

If the decision is made to implement the proposals in this report, these

Page 21



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 22

should not give rise to any legal implications provided the works are carried out in 
accordance with the appropriate statutory requirements as set out in the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984 and the Highways Act 1980

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

The scheme is being promoted by Transport for Greater Manchester (“TfGM”) on 
behalf of Greater Manchester Combined Authority (“GMCA”), in association with 
Salford City and Bolton Councils as part of the Greater Manchester Growth and 
Reform Deal therefore the scheme delivery costs will be externally funded by GMCA

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: No comments received.

HR IMPLICATIONS:
Not applicable

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: TfGM & Emergency Services

CONTACT OFFICER: Robert Owen (0161 779 4848)  & Yogeshwari Patel (4857) 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: Swinton North, Claremont & Pendlebury, 
Salford.

Ben Dolan
Strategic Director, Place

Attachments and appendixes:
A. Revocation of existing orders
- Relocate / upgrade puffin crossing to the toucan crossing.
B. Legal schedule.
C. Drawings detailing the proposed. (as attached)
D. Consultation – Frequently asked questions (as attached).
E. Executive summary of the proposal
F. Advertised legal notice.

Appendix: C 
Drawings attached

1. aTAP- UV/006840-P3-E.4.2-1201 TRO.pdf (sheet 1 of 2)
2. aTAP- UV/006840-P3-E.4.2-1202 TRO.pdf (sheet 2 of 2)

Page 22



JLMB- TRO 2201 A666- Bolton Road and Manchester Road- SBNI DP3 Bus lane 23

3. aTAP- UV/006840-P3-E.5.1-E.5.2-1201TRO.pdf (sheet 1 of 2)
4. aTAP- UV/006840-P3-E.5.1-E5.2-1202TRO.pdf (sheet 2 of 2)

Toucan Crossing Drawings:
5. UV/006840-P3-E.4.2-0100-03-5.pdf- for A666 Manchester Road at its junction 

with Gaskell Street
6. UV/006840-P3-E.5.1-E5.2-0100-03-5.pdf For A666 Bolton Road at its junction 

with Westwood Drive

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



SBNI-UVP-GEN-P3 -CO-Z-0001 rev 02

SBNI Public Engagement Frequently Asked Questions and Responses

Scheme Background

Salford City Council and Bolton Council are working in partnership with Transport for Greater 
Manchester (TfGM) to deliver a number of interventions that make up the Salford Bolton Network 
Improvements (SBNI) programme. These interventions are located across Salford and Bolton and are 
focussed on highway improvements, bus priority measures, cycle measures and on-street facility 
improvements for pedestrians. The programme of interventions seeks to make the transport 
network operate more efficiently, promote sustainable journeys and make journey times more 
predictable.

As part of the SBNI programme, it is proposed to introduce a bus lane on the Manchester-bound side 
of Bolton Road (A666) between the M60 off-slip (Junction 16 M60) and the Irlams o’th’ Height 
roundabout. Three sections of bus lane are proposed:

 From Wynne Avenue to opposite the junction with Little Moss Lane;
 From Rivington Crescent to the junction with Agecroft Road; and
 From opposite Fairway to Broomhall Road (adjacent to St John’s Church).

The proposed bus lanes will be a shared bus/cycle lane and will be operational during peak hours 
only (Monday to Friday, 7am-10am and 4pm-7pm). The bus lanes will be available for use by general 
traffic outside of peak hours.

To facilitate the delivery of the proposed bus lanes the width of existing general traffic lanes will be 
amended and a limited amount of carriageway widening will be required to ensure that all traffic 
lanes operate safely. This also allows for appropriate provisions for cyclists. The scheme will not 
change the number of lanes available for general traffic. 

Traffic Regulations Orders (TROs) are required so that the designation of the bus lane and the 
required parking restrictions can be regulated and enforced. Prior to the statutory public 
consultation required as part of the TRO process, public engagement events were held on Thursday 
2 & Tuesday 7 August 2018 at Swinton Gateway, to provide local residents with the opportunity to 
find out more information about the proposals and discuss any issues or queries they may have 
about the scheme. The feedback received at these events and subsequent queries from members of 
the public have been collated and grouped into topics. These frequently asked questions and the 
responses to them are listed below:

 

Q1) Who was contacted about the scheme and invited to the early engagement event?

Prior to the public engagement events taking place, letters were sent to the 644 properties with 
either direct frontage or line of sight to the A666 to notify residents of the proposed scheme and the 
engagement events. 

Page 25

file:///C:/Users/anthony.bennett2/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/UV006840%20-%20Bolton-Salford%20Corridor/03%20Delivery/GEN%20General/09%20General/SBNI-UVP-GEN-P3%20-CO-Z-0001


Q2) Why is this scheme being undertaken?

The A666, like numerous key routes in Greater Manchester, experiences congestion during peak 
hours. As set out in the Mayor's Congestion Deal for Greater Manchester, congestion can affect 
economic growth, deter investment, exacerbate noise and air pollution and also impacts on the 
punctuality and reliability of the local bus network. The schemes proposed as part of the SBNI 
programme, including the proposed bus lanes on the A666, seek to make the transport network 
operate more efficiently and make journey times more predictable.

Q3) When deciding on the proposed scheme what options have been reviewed/considered?

The SBNI programme has sought to improve the efficiency of the transport network on key routes 
from Bolton to Manchester. The programme was identified as a priority for various reasons including 
the number of commuters who could benefit from the improvements, the opportunity to unlock and 
support economic regeneration and growth of several local communities and to enhance public 
transport connectivity and resilience. 

A wide range of potential schemes were considered and the decision on which schemes were 
included within the programme was based upon anticipated benefits, deliverability, construction 
costs and priorities of the Local Authorities. The schemes ranged from bus stop upgrades, traffic 
calming measures, junction upgrades, regeneration of town centres and bus priority measures.    

Q4) Why is the scheme removing/restricting on street parking?

In order for the proposed bus lanes to operate effectively, on-street parking needs to be restricted 
within the hours of operation to ensure that buses using the lanes are not impeded by parked 
vehicles. 

At the time of the public engagement events it was proposed that complementary parking 
restrictions on the opposite side/direction of carriageway would also be introduced to ensure all 
traffic lanes operate safely and that traffic flows are not unduly affected by parked vehicles. 
However, following feedback from the engagement event, the scheme design has been amended 
and these parking restrictions on the outbound side of the A666 have been removed or minimised as 
far as possible. 

Q5) What is being done to address concerns regarding pedestrian safety raised at the engagement 
event? i.e. width of existing footway, removal of crossing points and the interface at Irlams 
o’th’Height roundabout

As noted in the engagement event, the proposals avoid reducing the existing footpath width 
wherever possible. Where there are existing narrow areas unaffected by the proposals we are 

Page 26



making efforts to widen footways where feasible. In the small number of areas where the 
carriageway will be widened, appropriate footway width is available and the recommended 
minimum widths can be maintained. 

The scheme will not result in the removal of any existing crossing points. A controlled crossing 
between Wyndam Avenue and Gaskell Street will be relocated further north and upgraded to a 
combined pedestrian and cyclist crossing. An uncontrolled crossing near Westwood Drive will also be 
upgraded to a signal controlled crossing for pedestrians and cyclists. 

At the Irlams o’th’Height roundabout there is an existing shared-use footway for pedestrians and 
cyclists. Due to physical constraints it is not possible to fully segregate pedestrians and cyclists in this 
location as part of this scheme. Additional signage is however proposed to improve safety between 
pedestrians and cyclists.  

Q6) What is being done to improve cycle safety?

It should be noted that cyclists are permitted to use the inbound bus lane during the hours of bus 
lane operation. 

Since the engagement event the proposals have been amended to provide enhanced facilities for 
cyclists on the outbound side of the A666. In particular, it is now proposed that the existing advisory 
cycle lane on the outbound sections of the A666 between the Irlams o’th’ Height roundabout and 
the junction with Agecroft Road and  from Beyond Agecroft Junction to Hospital Road will be 
upgraded to a mandatory cycle lane and its width increased from 1.25m to 1.5m. Mandatory cycle 
lanes aim to improve road safety by preventing motor vehicles from entering the designated road 
space and in doing so reduce the potential for collision between cyclists and motor vehicles. 

The hours of operation of the bus lane and mandatory cycle lane will be peak hours only (Monday-
Friday, 7am-10am and 4-7pm). Outside of these hours general traffic will be able to use the bus lane 
and the mandatory cycle lane will revert to an advisory cycle lane. 

Q7) How have the hours of operation of the bus lane been decided? 

The rationale for the proposed hours of operation of the bus lanes is due to the fact that levels of 
congestion on the A666, as with other key routes in Greater Manchester, are most significant during 
the morning and evening peak hours. As such, it is during these hours that the scheme will provide 
the greatest benefit for bus passengers and general traffic. 

Adopting these hours of operation for the proposed bus lanes will also ensure that they align with 
the operational hours of other bus lanes across Greater Manchester – ensuring consistency for road 
users. 

Page 27



Q8) How many buses and bus services will use the bus lanes?

The following bus services operate on all or part of the A666 between the M60 off-slip (Junction 16 
M60) and the Irlams o’th’ Height roundabout: 

 2: Bolton – Trafford Centre 
 8: Bolton – Manchester
 75: Pendleton – Agecroft – Seedley Circular
 484: Eccles – Whitefield

Based on current service patterns, 123 buses travel on the Manchester-bound section of the A666 
between the M60 off-slip (Junction 16 M60) and Station Road on a standard weekday. 103 buses per 
day travel on the Manchester-bound section of the A666 between Rivington Crescent and Agecroft 
Road and 104 use the section between Agecroft Road and the Irlams o’th’ Height roundabout. The 
number of buses using these sections of the bus lane in the peak hour (08:00 – 09:00) is 8,7 and 7 
respectively.

Of the services operating on this route, the number 8 service is the most frequent and has a 
timetabled frequency of one service every 10 minutes. However, some of the scheduled services 
may currently be delayed in general traffic, particularly during the rush hour peaks. 

Q9) Who can I contact for further information about this scheme?

All enquiries about the proposed scheme should be sent to the Salford roadworks email address 
SalfordRoadWorks@urbanvision.org.uk.

Alternatively, any written correspondence can be addressed to:

SBNI Project c/o Highways Department, 
Salford City Council, 
Salford Civic Centre, 
Chorley Road, 
Swinton, 
Salford, 
M27 5AW.

Page 28

mailto:SalfordRoadWorks@urbanvision.org.uk


1

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 Introduction

1.1.1 The SBNI Salford Bolton Network Improvement (SBNI) major scheme is promoted by 

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM), with support from TfGM’s delivery 

partners, Bolton Council (BC) and Salford City Council (SCC).  It will provide a 

comprehensive package of capital infrastructure improvements for pedestrians, 

cyclists, bus and rail passengers, and general traffic, focused around a local transport 

and District Centre network that serves over 100,000 residents in Bolton and Salford 

and will benefit over 12 million bus passengers per year.

1.1.2 The SBNI programme is one of twelve major transport schemes being delivered 

through Growth Deal funding. It comprises of a series of discrete Delivery Packages 

which will collectively provide corridor-wide, multi-modal, local transport 

infrastructure interventions to connect communities, make the network more 

efficient and reduce unpredictable delays.

1.1.3 The scheme is currently at Conditional Approval stage with a package of 

interventions that have been developed to concept design phase through 

consultation with key stakeholders, liaison with local authorities, Member  and bus 

operator workshops, and have been prioritised against a set of key criteria. Following 

Conditional Approval further design development will take place along with 

extensive public consultation in order to secure the necessary local authority 

approvals, seek Full funding Approval and commence delivery of the interventions.

1.1.4 The scheme will be delivered as a programme, managed by TfGM and delivered 

jointly by TfGM, Bolton and Salford Councils.  There will be a Delivery Agreement 

between TfGM and Salford City Council who will be the contracting authority for the 

Salford section of the programme and a Delivery Agreement between TfGM and 

Bolton Council for the Bolton section. The scheme will be delivered as a series of 

Delivery Packages, across two programme phases, as presented in this document.

Page 29



2

1.1.5 A location plan showing the SBNI area is illustrated in Figure 1.1 overleaf.

Page 30



3

Figure 1.1 – SBNI location plan

P
age 31



4

1.2 The Challenge and Objectives

1.2.1 The SBNI programme is focused on a strategically important urban corridor, which is 

located between the two major centres of Bolton Town Centre and Greater 

Manchester’s Regional Centre (the commercial core of Manchester/Salford). With 

areas of high level deprivation and areas with unsustainable levels of car ownership 

there is a need to stimulate economic performance whilst improving access to 

sustainable public transport. 

1.2.2 The SBNI area’s economic vitality is hampered by a number of challenging transport 

related constraints including:

 District Centres with uninviting, non- user friendly transport facilities;

 Peak-time congestion (including M60/M61/M62 motorway related problems);

 Poor punctuality and reliability of the local bus network;

 Infrequent local rail service patterns; and 

 Poor public transport connections (e.g. slow, infrequent, inconvenient and 

unpredictable journey times and interchange arrangements) to important 

places of employment, education, health and leisure such as Bolton Town 

Centre, Bolton College and University, Salford University, Salford Quays, the 

Trafford Centre and the Regional Centre of Manchester, including the Oxford 

Road Corridor. 

1.2.3 Most crucially, there is a risk that due to poor areas of accessibility the area will not 

benefit from the strong employment growth projections for the Regional Centre and 

other strategically important employment growth points, such as MediaCity UK, Port 

Salford and Logistics North, creating worse problems for air quality, congestion and 

carbon emissions, as jobs at these locations are fulfilled by people living further 

away.  

1.2.4 Whilst much needed improvements to the capacity and quality of the rail network 

would also help tackle these issues and provide for strategic connectivity to 

Page 32



5

employment opportunities further afield, these improvements cannot be delivered 

within the timescales of the SBNI programme, and have therefore been ruled out of 

scope.  Furthermore, rail-based improvements will only realise the highest benefit 

for the corridor if the complementary highways measures brought forward by this 

scheme are implemented to support local traffic and bus movements.

1.2.5 In particular, without a punctual and reliable supporting bus network, the District 

Centres in the area will continue to lose trade to other centres which are currently 

easier to access by rail and car.

1.2.6 Therefore, the SBNI scheme objectives are to:

 Support the economic vitality of the District Centres of Farnworth, Walkden, 

Swinton and Pendleton;

 To substantially improve the punctuality, regularity and reliability of bus 

services operating through the defined study area, and aim to increase bus 

speeds where possible;

 Strengthen links within and links in and out of the area to high employment / 

health / education and leisure locations (with emphasis on employment); and

 Promote active, healthy lifestyles and making active sustainable travel safer 

and easier to use and an attractive alternative to the private car.

1.3 Scheme Background

1.3.1 The SBNI programme has evolved from the ‘Route 8 Bus Rapid Transit (BRT)’ major 

scheme which was one of the twelve future transport schemes prioritised by the 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA), at their meeting on the 26th July 

2013, for submission to the Department for Transport (DfT) for funding during the 

period 2015/16 to 2018/19. Funding for the scheme was subsequently approved as 

part of the Government’s ‘Growth Deal’ announcement on 7th July 2014, which 

confirmed Greater Manchester’s capital funding allocation for the period 2016/17 to 

2020/21.

Page 33



6

1.3.2 The ‘Route 8 BRT’ related to the legacy Transport Innovation Fund (TIF) scheme 

developed in 2006/07.During TIF, the option for a BRT scheme (i.e. complete physical 

segregation of a bus route) for Route 8 was considered as the preferred option. 

However, since TIF, further work in developing Quality Bus Partnerships, Quality 

Partnership Schemes (QPS) and the delivery of the Bus Priority Package and Better 

Bus Area Fund programmes has updated the Delivery Partners’ views on what can be 

achieved in partnership with bus operators with the delivery of on-highways bus 

priority measures. In addition, planned improvements to the capacity of the Bolton-

Manchester railway line due to the Northern Hub, and in particular the substantial 

network benefits derived from the electrification of the Manchester-Liverpool, 

Manchester-Preston and Bolton-Wigan railway lines, could reduce the strategic need 

for a BRT scheme.

1.3.3 With the diminishing requirement for a BRT scheme along ‘Route 8’ SBNI has 

subsequently been prioritised to address the transport related constraints earlier. In 

recognition that a step change in overall network performance across the area is 

required to more fully support the economic objectives of addressing deprivation in 

the area’s communities (such as Pendleton, Great Lever, Walkden, Swinton, Little 

Hulton and Farnworth), the scope of the SBNI interventions has also increased from 

the route of the number 8 bus and has evolved to include bus priority measures for a 

number of connecting/feeder/orbital services, including the 22, 36, 501, 524 and 68.

1.3.4 In doing so, the scheme will make a positive contribution to sustainable economic 

growth through the delivery of a package of transport network interventions in the 

Bolton – Farnworth/Walkden – Swinton – Salford corridor; focussed on connecting 

communities and towns within the study area together with providing easy and 

reliable access to employment, health, education and leisure opportunities by 

sustainable transport modes.

1.3.5 The initial concept design phase for the scheme yielded 70 interventions which have 

subsequently been prioritised through a series of high level option appraisals to 

ensure the scope of the programme fulfils the scheme objectives. The result of this 

Page 34



7

option appraisal has led to a defined scope of 36 interventions which are detailed in 

the next section.

1.3.6 The SBNI scheme is being brought forward as a strategic priority to complement 

surrounding major transport investment priorities including:

 The Greater Manchester Bus Priority Package, which will provide fast, regular 

transport links between Leigh, Tyldesley, Ellenbrook, Salford, Manchester city 

centre and the Oxford Road Corridor;

 The new bus and rail interchange in Bolton (expected opening 2016); and

 The proposed Northern Hub and Electrification Infrastructure, including new 

platforms at Salford Central Station and improved service patterns on the 

Bolton to Manchester line expected by 2018.  

1.3.7 It will also contribute to the delivery of a number of Key Business Priorities (KBP) as 

set out in the TfGM Business Plan 2015/16, including:

 KBP1 Promoting Safety 

 KBP2 Focussing on Customers and Stakeholders 

 KBP5 Attracting Investment into Greater Manchester  

1.4 The Scheme

1.4.1 The SBNI scheme will deliver multi-modal local transport infrastructure 

improvements targeted at ensuring the SBNI strategic objectives above are met.  By 

making the network more efficient and reducing unpredictable delays, the scheme 

will encourage operators to implement bus network improvements for example 

through the provision of improved bus services.

1.4.2 The scheme positively contributes to TfGM’s vision of “Driving the growth of a 

healthy and sustainable Greater Manchester through the delivery of a reliable, 

Page 35



8

integrated transport network” through the identification of a sustainable package of 

transport network interventions in the SBNI area; focussed on connecting 

communities, District Centres and towns within the study area together and 

providing easy and reliable access to employment, health, education and leisure 

opportunities by sustainable transport modes.

1.4.3 The SBNI scheme consists of 11 Delivery Packages (6 in Bolton and 5 in Salford) 

which consist of scheme specific measures subsequently referred to in this Business 

Case as interventions. These Delivery Packages are made up of a total of 36 

interventions which have been assessed on a technical and Value for Money basis 

following a series of Options Appraisals in the earlier stages of the programme. Each 

Delivery Package consists of a number of geographically linked interventions which 

provide a variety of transport user, road user, cyclist and pedestrian benefits. Phase 

1 Delivery Packages are expected to commence construction during the period June 

2016 to September 2016, whilst Phase 2 Delivery Packages are expected to 

commence construction during the period August 2016 to April 2018.The Delivery 

Packages,  scheme intervention names and their delivery phasing are summarised in 

Table 1.1 below:

Table 1.1 SBNI Delivery Packages and Phasing

Delivery 
Package 
Number

Intervention Intervention Description Delivery 
Phase

Bolton Delivery Packages
Bolton 
DP1 A5.1 Raikes Lane Junction Junction re-design / re-model 

traffic signal junctions 1

A6.1 Manchester Road / Green Lane Junction improvements / MOVA
A6.2 Manchester Road / Loxham Street / 
Smiths Road

Junction re-design / re-model 
traffic signal junctions

Bolton 
DP2

A6.3 Moses Gate / Edgerton St MOVA Junction Improvements

1

B3.2  Long Causeway traffic management 
measures

TROs / traffic management 
measures

B3.3  Bolton Rd/Manchester Rd traffic 
management measures

TROs / traffic management 
measures

Bolton 
DP3

B3.4 Manchester Road / Higher Market Street 
/ Long Causeway Junction Re-design of traffic signal junction

1

Bolton 
DP4a B2.1 Farnworth Bus station Re-design of bus stop provision 1

Page 36



9

B3.1 Traffic Management and public transport 
measures on Higher Market Street

Bus stop improvements TROs / 
traffic management measures 1

B2.2 King St / Higher Market St Junction Modifications to junction layout 2

Bolton 
DP4b

B2.3 Bus stops on Higher Market Street Re-design of bus stop provision 2
C2.1 Manchester Rd-M60 Bus priority measuresBolton 

DP6 C2.2 Manchester Rd / Stoneclough Rd 
Junction Junction improvements 2

Bolton 
DP7 G1 Bus Stop and Shelter Upgrades Bus stop upgrades 2

Salford Delivery Packages
D1.2 Madam's Wood Road Traffic management measures
D1.3 Manchester Road East / Hilton Lane Junction alterations

D3.1 Walkden Rail Station Alterations to urban realm/bus 
stop relocation

D3.2 Birch Rd / Old Clough Lane Traffic management measures
F1.1 Junction Eccles Old Road / Langworthy Rd Junction alterations
F1.2 Junction Seedley Rd / Langworthy Rd Junction alterations

Salford 
DP1

F1.3 Bus stop upgrade Fitzwarren Street Bus stop upgrade

1

D2.1 Manchester Road Bolton Rd junction 
improvements Junction re-design

D2.2 Walkden Centre (Stocks Hotel Stop) 
improvements Bus stop upgrade

E2.2 Swinton Town Centre - A6 Civic centre & 
public realm

Bus stop upgrades, public realm 
upgrades

Salford 
DP2

Salford 
DP2 E2.3 A6 bus priority to Swinton Westbound Bus priority / Cycle priority 

measures

2

E4.1 Bus Gate & Lane A666 (North M60) Bus priority measures
E4.2 M60 to Station Road Bus priority measures
E4.3 Upgrade Junction: A666 / Station Road Junction upgrade
E5.1 Route upgrade A666 Bolton Road / 
roundabout Bus priority measures

E5.2 Junction improvement Agecroft Road Lane alterations, junction upgrade

E6.1 Improve 'Heights’ roundabout
Roundabout exit / entry point 
reorganisation, bus priority 
measure reorganisation

E6.2 Bolton Rd Parking Parking arrangement re-
organisation

F1.4 A6 to Belvedere Road Bus Priority 
Measures Bus priority measures

Salford 
DP3

F1.5 Crossing Crescent Station (A6) Super crossing installation

2

Salford 
DP4 F2.1 Rossall Way Gyratory, A6 Roundabout Bus priority measures, public realm 

re-organisation 2

Salford 
DP5 G2 Bus Stop and Shelter Upgrades Bus stop upgrades 2

1.4.4 Appendix A contains concept designs for the interventions which will be delivered in 

Phase 1 of the programme. As the programme proceeds beyond Conditional 

Page 37



10

Approval further design development will take place along with extensive public 

consultation in order to secure necessary local authority approvals, seek Full funding 

Approval and commence delivery of the interventions.

1.4.5 The intended outcomes of the programme will include increased bus speeds, shorter 

journey times and reduced variability leading to better and more sustainable access 

to jobs and local District Centres. The proposed pedestrian crossings, cycle 

infrastructure and public realm improvements will provide safer walking and cycling 

routes into District Centres making them more accessible and attractive as a result 

encouraging more people to visit these centres and increase local trade.  The 

programme also encompasses facility improvements targeted at providing an 

enhanced experience for public transport users such as bus station upgrades.  This is 

in addition to upgraded bus stop waiting areas that provide better shelter and safety 

for users which will improve customer experience and increase patronage.

1.4.6 Whilst SBNI’s primary focus is to improve the quality of sustainable modes of 

transport across the Bolton – Farnworth/Walkden – Swinton – Salford corridor the 

programme of interventions will also provide improvement for private car users 

through improved junction performance and more efficient use of highway space 

which should in turn lead to decreased congestion.

1.4.7 Whilst the Delivery Packages would provide local benefits if delivered on their own, 

it is only when delivered as a coordinated and comprehensive package of measures, 

that the full benefits of the SBNI are realised.  This is particularly true in terms of 

achieving the step change needed to improve punctuality and journey time reliability 

of buses in the area (which is required to achieve mode shift and District Centre 

growth targets).  Nonetheless, in forming two phases for the programme delivery, 

we have been able to demonstrate that a sufficient level of ‘step change’ will be 

enabled by ‘Phase 1’ to justify the acceleration of ‘Phase 1’ approvals ahead of 

‘Phase 2’.

Page 38



11

1.4.8 The scheme will provide improved public transport access and connectivity to 

growth areas not accessible by rail, will improve (non-rail) local accessibility and 

connectivity to the District Centres.

1.4.9 The scheme will also help the bus network better serve locations that currently 

suffer from high levels of deprivation.  As such the scheme is focussed on corridor 

connectivity and accessibility improvements which cannot be delivered by rail and 

is focussed on delivering benefits to the existing and potential bus users in the 

corridor.  When combined with future potential investment in rail, the SBNI scheme 

will create the necessary new baseline conditions for achieving strategic target 

reductions in private car ownership and sustainable mode choice.  

1.4.10 The programme will have a number of interdependencies and interfaces with other 

external programmes. Examples include the master plan for Farnworth town 

centre, Pendleton Precinct, local housing developments, delivery of the Northern 

Hub and Electrification of the Preston – Manchester line and the Highways England 

M60 Managed Motorway scheme.

1.5 Value for Money summary

1.5.1 Since the original funding submission, TfGM and Bolton and Salford Councils have 

undertaken work to review the SBNI to deliver improved Value for Money (VfM).  

Cooperative working during the development of scheme concept proposals has 

produced a set of Delivery Packages which support the SBNI objectives.

1.5.2 The transport modelling and appraisal approach has been applied proportionately at 

the Conditional Approval Business Case stage, to estimate the highway and public 

transport journey time savings. The scheme’s benefit-cost (BCR) ratio will be revised 

for the Full Approval business case submission. For this, a locally validated highway 

model will be developed to understand the highway re-routing effect and its impact 

on the overall highway journey time savings.

1.5.3 The scheme appraisal work has been undertaken based on the DfT’s Transport 

Page 39



12

Analysis Guidance (WebTAG), TfGM’s Investment Appraisal Guidance and a range of 

sensitivity tests have also been undertaken.

1.5.4 The scheme’s key monetised benefits include: i)- journey time savings to public 

transport and other highway users; ii)- health benefits to cyclists and public transport 

users; iii)- public realm benefits; iv)- improved air quality benefits; and v)- reduction 

in noise and accident benefits.

1.5.5 Few key benefits can’t be quantified so qualitative assessment is carried out for 

regeneration benefits, improving journey quality and security for pedestrians and 

public transport users, and enhancing users’ access to services.

1.5.6 The SBNI scheme offers high Value for Money at the Conditional Approval business 

case stage based on its monetised and qualitative benefits, as well as the robustness 

of the appraisal. A summary of VfM can be seen from Table 1.2 below. 

Table 1.2 – Value for Money Summary (Phase 1 & 2 schemes combined) – Conditional 

Approval Business Case Stage

 2010 prices and values £000’s

Present Value of Benefits (PVB) £242,835

Present Value of Costs  (PVC) £37,160

Net Present Value (NPV) £205,675

 Qualitative Benefits  Moderate beneficial – 

Regeneration; Journey Quality; 

Security; Journey Time Reliability; 

and Access to Services benefits.

Overall VfM 6.38 BCR

1.6 Programme Delivery

1.6.1 Project Teams and Governance

Page 40



13

1.6.2 Due to an increasing range and scale of projects and programmes being managed 

by TfGM two methodologies were developed to ensure consistent delivery 

approaches.  The first covers the management of projects (PMP) and the second 

covers programme management (ProgMP). These have been incorporated in the 

Growth Deal Majors Capital Programme Guidance. The purpose of these 

procedures is to ensure that TfGM’s projects are managed effectively and 

efficiently and are delivered to a consistent standard, on budget and on time using 

a single corporate management methodology. This embedded project and 

programme management approach brings reliability, vigour and visibility. Bolton 

Council and Salford Council Delivery Policies will manage the day to day activities 

on the programme using their own Project Management Procedures.

1.6.3 A key requirement for the funding is the implementation of TfGM’s Project 

Management Procedures (PMP) in order to provide increased assurance and 

control over how SBNI and other Growth Deal projects are delivered. This 

assurance is achieved through the application of a scheme independent scrutiny 

and assurance process, a major component of which is the Gateway approval 

process.

1.6.4 As set out in the Assurance Framework agreed with DfT, following Scheme 

Prioritisation there are two Gateways to approval based upon the DfT’s Transport 

Business Case process, namely: 

 Conditional Approval, which confirms the GMCA’s intention to fund the scheme 

at the specified budget, conditional on successful completion of a full Business 

Case process, which would include gaining of all powers/consents and obtaining 

a tender ;

 Full Funding Approval, which grants final funding approval to promoters with         

appropriate contracts and agreed on-going monitoring in place. 

1.6.5 TfGM will fulfil the role of programme management, there will be a Delivery 

Agreement between TfGM and Salford City Council who will be the contracting 

authority for the Salford section of the programme and Delivery Agreement 

Page 41



14

between TfGM and Bolton Council who will manage to construction of the Bolton 

section of the programme.

1.6.6 The GMCA Growth Deal funding is time limited and is available from March 2015 to 

March 2021. 

1.6.7 Stakeholders and Communication

1.6.8 TfGM will manage the strategic level communications for the programme whilst 

Bolton Council and Urban Vision (on behalf of Salford City Council) will manage the 

day to day project level communications.

1.6.9 The diverse nature and wide area of coverage of the programme of interventions 

mean that the SBNI will be of interest to a wide range of stakeholders within the 

area which the programme of interventions covers. 

1.6.10 High level consultation has taken place between key stakeholders in Bolton Council, 

Salford City Council, TfGM and Bus Operators to progress the scheme to 

Conditional Business Case approval. 

1.6.11 As the scheme progresses beyond Conditional Approval the interventions will be 

further developed in conjunction with key stakeholders and  the wider local 

community through scheme level public consultation. This will ensure the 

programme of interventions is inclusive and takes into account local objectives 

formed by the needs of stakeholders and residents across Bolton and Salford as 

well as meeting the wider strategic programme objectives.  For Salford the detailed 

proposals will then be considered for approval by the City Council. For Bolton the 

detailed proposals will be notified to the Executive Cabinet Member for 

Environmental Services. Lessons learned from previous Bus Priority schemes 

undertaken by TfGM will be utilised in order to ensure effective stakeholder 

engagement and consultation is carried out

Page 42



15

1.6.12 A stakeholder engagement and consultation plan will be developed to show the 

methods of consultation to be used for the programme of works and how the 

consultation will be spread over the intervention areas. The plan will identify any 

issues, minimise conflicts and generate solutions which will take into account the 

aspirations of stakeholders whilst protecting the objectives of the programme.

1.7 Risk Management

1.7.1 TfGM will work closely with the delivery partners to establish the benefits of risk 

management and its application to their business activities.  This will ensure there 

is a joined-up and consistent approach to risk management applied across the 

programme. Successful delivery of the programme objectives will depend on all 

parties adhering to the risk management process and procedures.  

1.7.2 Appropriate and effective reporting arrangements reinforce and support risk 

management and allow up-to-date and accurate performance information to be 

passed to risk owners and senior managers. In line with TfGM’s governance 

procedures, the Risk Manager provides the risk reports to the Programme Manager 

for inclusion in the monthly Programme Board reports.  The risk reports will be 

based upon the latest information from the District review meetings.  No changes 

to risk management sections in the Board reports should be made without the 

approval of the responsible risk manager.

1.7.3 Risk management will be a key focus on the agenda for project progress meetings 

with the Districts and there will be a requirement for the Districts to report on risks 

relating to each intervention so that TfGM have an understanding of the risk 

exposure across the programme. Delivery Agreements which will be created in 

partnership with the Districts will detail the required risk management processes, 

including management of the allocated risk budget and escalation procedures, 

which will be enforced throughout the programme.

1.7.4 As the Districts will be managing construction works on site, risks relating 

specifically to Health & Safety matters will primarily be a District responsibility and 

this will be reflected by their role as Principal Designer under the CDM 2015 

Page 43



16

regulations. However in line with the TfGM Safety Management System (SMS) any 

TfGM representative involved with the project will place safety first from project 

inception through to completion. Health & Safety risks are those physical risks 

relating to fire, security, buildings and plant, accident prevention and personal 

safety.

1.8 Funding

1.8.1 The total funding allocation from Growth Deal for SBNI is £39.7m.   As with any 

scheme proposal included within the package should the scheme scope, benefits, 

cost or funding approach differ moving forward then this will be reviewed at Full 

Approval stage.  

1.8.2 The GMCA Growth Deal funding is time limited and is available from March 2015 to 

March 2021. A draft outline schedule has been produced in order to ensure the  SBNI 

Programme of interventions can be delivered within this timeframe.

1.8.3 The scheme costs for SBNI are based upon the cost estimates provided by the 

District Partners as part of the scheme identification and prioritisation process, these 

costs have been validated to ensure they represent an accurate estimate of the 

anticipated scheme costs.

1.8.4 In addition to the QRA budget of £3.6 million, SBNI has a contingency of £7.4 million. 

This level of contingency associated with SBNI will be held at programme level (e.g. 

Growth Deal). As the schemes progress and true costs are realised any funds within 

the contingency which are not required to deliver the main schemes will be used to 

bring schemes held in reserve back into scope. The contingency allowance equates 

to approximately 20% of the total funding allocation for SBNI which is considered to 

be an appropriate provision based on the lessons learnt from other (similar) projects.

1.9 Procurement & Contract Management

1.9.1 In parallel with the design development process, TfGM will develop a Sourcing 

Strategy Document (SSD) using its Strategic Sourcing Process (SSP).  This strategy will 

Page 44



17

take account of risk and best value in the context of meeting the needs of the 

programme.

1.9.2 The development and governance of the SSD will follow the TfGM procurement 

procedures and policies to ensure it:

 delivers best whole life VfM; 

 complies with all relevant legislation;

 is open and transparent  and providing all necessary safeguards against 
fraud and corruption;

 is properly documented providing clear audit trails;

 ensures active and widespread involvement with TfGM making it as 
easy as possible to engage; and

 ensures that TfGM Procurement supports the organisation to achieve 
its Sustainability, Environmental and Diversity Policies.

1.9.3 To undertake the necessary Business Case and design development work on each 

package, multi-disciplinary design will be undertaken to progress the packages. This 

will also enable a traditional procurement method, where the design process is 

separate from construction, to be progressed if required subject to time constraints 

and the risk applicable to each package. The consideration and recommendation of 

the traditional or design and build procurement method will be detailed as part of 

the SSD following consideration of time constraints and risk for each scheme. 

1.9.4 The Bolton work packages will be delivered using the Bolton Highways framework. 

The Salford work packages will be delivered using a combination of Bolton Highways 

framework, Salford Highways framework, direct allocation to Urban Vision Highway 

Services and delivery through the open market.

1.9.5 Separate appointments would be made in relation to Cost Consultant and 

potentially, health and safety advice for each scheme. These appointees will be key 

client advisors who will work for the client providing relevant input to the design 

process whilst managing the design team output to ensure that it meets TfGM 

requirements in terms of design safety/quality and is in accordance with the 

available budgetary provision.

Page 45



18

1.9.6 Following the recent changes to the CDM regulations, a PD will be nominated by 

each District to support and guide the project team to ensure that we meet our 

health and safety obligations by complying with the appropriate legislation and 

industry best practice(s). 

Page 46



Salford City Council proposes to make the following Orders under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. The 

titles and effects of the Orders are as follows; City Of Salford (A666 Manchester Road And A666 Bolton Road) 

(Bus Lane) Order 2019 

Ben Dolan, Strategic Director Place, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, Salford M27 5DADated:  

7
th

 March 2019  

Site Notice for Drawing Ref No- 4.1 & 4.2- from M60 off slip Road to Station Road, Salford 

The Order will introduce the following restrictions.  

Bus Lane 7.00 a.m. to 10.00 a.m. and 4.00 p.m. to 7.00 p.m. Mon - Fri : 

A666 Manchester Rd, 

N eastern side, from a point 56m S of its junction with the S eastern projected kerbline of Wynne Ave to a point 110m S of the S eastern projected kerbline of 

Billy Ln in a S easterly direction.  
 

City of Salford (A666 Manchester Road and A666 Bolton Road) (Prohibition of Waiting, Restriction of Waiting, Restriction of 

Loading/Unloading and Revocation) Order 2019 
The Order will introduce the following restrictions.  

No Waiting at Any Time-  

Fitton Crescent (south access), Both sides, from the western extended projected kerbline of A666 Manchester Rd for a distance of 15m in a westerly direction.  

Wroe St, Both sides, from the Western extended projected kerbline of A666 Manchester Rd for a distance of 10m in a westerly direction.  

Wyndham Av, Both sides, from the western extended projected kerbline of A666 Manchester Rd for a distance of 15m in a Westerly direction. 

Gaskell St, Both sides, from the western extended projected kerbline of A666 Manchester Rd for a distance of 15m in a westerly direction.  

Billy Ln, Both sides, from the NE extended projected kerbline of A666 Manchester Rd for a distance of 10m in an easterly direction.  

Berry St, N side, from the western extended projected kerbline of A666 Manchester Rd for a distance of 10m in a westerly direction.  

Holt St, S side, from the western extended projected kerbline of Manchester Rd for a distance of 10m in a westerly direction. 

Little Moss Ln, Both sides, from the western extended projected kerbline of A666 Manchester Rd for a distance of 10m in a N westerly direction.  

Worsley St, Both sides, from the western extended projected kerbline of A666 Bolton Rd for a distance of 31m in a westerly direction.  

A666 Manchester Rd,  

SW side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Fitton Crescent (south access) to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Fitton Crescent (S 

access), in a northerly direction.  

SW side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Wroe St, to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Wroe St in a northerly direction.  

SW side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Wyndham Av to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Wyndham Av in a northerly direction.  

SW side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Gaskell St to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Gaskell St in a northerly direction.  

NE side, from a point 10 m S of the southern projected kerbline of Billy Ln to a point 23m N of the northern extended projected kerbline of Billy Ln in a northerly direction.  

W side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Holt St to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Berry St in a northerly direction.  

A666 Bolton Rd,  

W side, from point a 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Little Moss Ln to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Little Moss Ln in a northerly direction.  

W side, from a point 10m S of the southern extended projected kerbline of Worsley St to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Worsley St in a northerly 

direction.  

Both sides, from the NW extended projected kerbline of Station Rd to the southerly projected kerbline of Ramsden Fold in a N westerly direction. 

 
No Waiting Mon- Fri 7.00 a.m. to 7.00 p.m.  

A666 Manchester Rd,  

SW side, from a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Wroe St to a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Fitton Crescent. (southern access)  

A666 Manchester Rd / Bolton Rd,  
E side, from the southern extended back of footway projected kerbline of Billy Ln to S of the southern projected kerbline of Ramsden Fold in a southerly direction. 

A666 Manchester Rd, W side, from a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Little Moss Ln to a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Holt St in a 

northerly direction. 

 

No Waiting- Mon – Fri 7.00 a.m. to 10.00 a.m. & 4.00 p.m. to 7.00 p.m 

A666 Manchester Rd,  
NE side, from a point 23m N of the northern projected kerbline of Billy Ln to the M60 off Slip Rd in a N easterly direction.  

SW side, from a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Fitton Crescent (S access) to the M60 off Slip Rd (opposite) in a N westerly direction.  

SW side, from a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Wyndham Av to a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Wroe St in a northerly direction.  

SW side, from a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Gaskell St to a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Wyndham Av in a northerly direction.  

SW side, from a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Berry St to a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Gaskell St in a northerly direction. 

A666 Bolton Rd,  

W side, from a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Worsley St to a point 10 m S of the southern projected kerbline of Little Moss Ln in a northerly direction. 

 

No Loading / Unloading Mon – Fri 7.00 a.m. to 10.00 a.m. & 4.00 p.m. to 7.00 p.m.  

Fitton Crescent (S access), Both sides, from the western extended projected kerbline of the A666 Manchester Rd for a distance of 15m in a westerly direction.  

Wroe St, Both sides, from W of the western extended projected kerbline of  A666 Manchester Rd for a distance of 10 m in a westerly direction. 

Wyndham Av, Both sides, from W of the western extended projected kerbline of A666 Manchester Rd for a distance of 15m in a westerly direction.  

Gaskell St, Both sides, from western extended projected kerbline of A666 Manchester Rd for a distance of 15m in a westerly direction.  

Billy Ln, Both sides, from N of the NE extended projected kerbline of A666 Manchester Rd for a distance of 10m in an easterly direction.  

Berry St, N side, from the western extended projected kerbline of A666 Manchester Rd for a distance of 10m in a westerly direction.  

Holt St, S side, from the western extended projected kerbline of Manchester Rd for a distance of 10m in a westerly direction.  

Little Moss Ln, Both sides, from the Western extended projected kerbline of A666 Manchester Rd for a distance of 10 m in a N westerly direction. 

Worsley St, Both sides, from the western extended projected kerbline of A666 Bolton Rd for a distance of 31m in a westerly direction 

A666 Manchester Rd/ A666 Bolton Rd, 
Both sides, from the SW extended projected kerbline of Station Rd to the M60 off Slip Rd in a N easterly direction.  

 

Existing Orders are to be amended so as to be consistent with the proposals. 

Copies of the proposed Orders, plans of the area and statement of the Council's reasons for proposing to make the above Orders may be 

examined at Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Rd, Swinton, M27 5DA, 9.00am-4.30pm Mon-Fri.  

Details can be viewed online at http://www.salford.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-travel/roads/traffic-orders/  

If you wish to object to the proposed Orders you should send the grounds of your objection in writing to Fiona Ledden, City Solicitor: 

PO BOX 532, TOWN HALL, MANCHESTER, M60 2LA, or phlegal@manchester.gov.uk  by the 28
th

 March 2019  

Quoting ref GS/OUT1093/700 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Salford City Council proposes to make the following Orders under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. The 

titles and effects of the Orders are as follows; City of Salford (A666 Manchester Road and A666 Bolton Road) 

(Bus Lane) Order 2019 

Ben Dolan, Strategic Director Place, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, Salford M27 5DADated: 7
th

 March 2019  

Site Notice for Drawing Ref No- 5.1 & 5.2- from Crescent Avenue to Manchester Road / East Lancashire / Broad Street roundabout, Salford 

The Order will introduce the following restrictions.  

Bus Lane 7.00 a.m. to 10.00 a.m. and 4.00 p.m. to 7.00 p.m. Mon - Fri: 
A666 Bolton Rd,  

N eastern side, from a point 37m SE of the projected kerbline of Rivington Cres (north west access) to a point 49m SE of the projected kerbline of Rivington Cres (south east 

access) in a S easterly direction.  

E side, from a point 51m SE of the southern projected kerbline of Fairway (opposite) to a point 18m N of the northern projected kerbline of Broomhall Rd in a southerly 

direction.  

City of Salford (A666 Manchester Road and A666 Bolton Road) (Prohibition of Waiting, Restriction of Waiting, Restriction of 

Loading/Unloading and Revocation) Order 2019 
The Order will introduce the following restrictions.  

No Waiting at Any Time-  
Crescent Av, Both sides, from the NE projected kerbline of A666 Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a N easterly direction.  

Kersal Av, Both sides, from the NE projected kerbline of A666 Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a N easterly direction.  

Hospital Rd, Both sides, from the SW extended projected kerbline of A666 Bolton Rd for a distance of 15m in a S westerly direction.  

Hawthorn Dr, Both sides, from the SW extended projected kerbline of Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a S westerly direction.  

Osborne Dr, Both sides, from the SW extended projected kerbline of Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a S westerly direction.  

Shirley Av, NW side, from the western projected kerbline of A666 Bolton Rd for a distance of 35m in a S westerly direction.  

Shirley Av, SE side, from the western projected kerbline of A666 Bolton Rd for a distance of 8m in a S westerly direction.  

Beverley Rd, Both sides, from the SW projected kerbline of A666 Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a S westerly direction.  

Waverley Rd, Both sides, from the SW projected kerbline of Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a S westerly direction.  

Fairway, Both sides, from the SW projected kerbline of Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a S westerly direction.  

Westwood Dr, N side, from the SW projected kerbline of A666 Bolton Rd for a distance of 10 m in a S westerly direction. 
A666 Bolton Rd, 

NE side, from a point 10 m S of the southern projected kerbline of Crescent Av, to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Crescent Av in a northerly direction. 

NE side, from a point 15m S of the southern projected kerbline of Kersal Av, to a point 10m N of the Northern projected kerbline of Kersal Av in a Northerly direction.  

SW side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Hospital Rd, to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Hospital Rd in a northerly direction. 

SW side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Hawthorn Dr to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Hawthorn Dr in a N westerly direction. 

SW side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Osborne Dr to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Osborne Dr in a N westerly direction. 

SW side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of the Greater Manchester Fire Service Headquarters service yard to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of the 

Greater Manchester Fire Service Headquarters service yard in a N westerly direction.   

SW side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of the Greater Manchester Fire Service Headquarters entrance to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of the Greater 

Manchester Fire Service Headquarters entrance in a N westerly direction 

SW side, from a point 10m S of the SE projected kerbline of Beverley Rd to a point 10m NW projected kerbline of Ranelagh Rd in a N westerly direction.  

SW side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Waverly Rd to a point 10m NE projected kerbline of Waverly Rd in a northerly direction. 

SW side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Fair Way to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Fairway in a N westerly direction.  

SW side, from a point 10m S of the S eastern projected kerbline of Westwood Dr to a point 10m NW projected kerbline of Westwood Dr in a northerly direction. 

 

No Waiting- Mon – Fri 7.00 a.m. to 10.00 a.m. & 4.00 p.m. to 7.00 p.m 

A666 Manchester Rd,  

NE side, from a point 10m NW extended projected kerbline of Kersal Av to a point 10m SE projected kerbline of Crescent Av in a northerly direction.  

SW side, from a point 10m NW of the northern projected kerbline of Hospital Rd to a point 10m (opposite extended) NW projected kerbline of Crescent Av in a N westerly direction.   

NE side, from NW projected kerbline of the northern access of Rivington Crescent to a point 15m SE projected kerbline of Kersal Av in a northerly direction.  

SW side, from a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Waverley Rd to a point 10m S of the SE projected kerbline of Beverley Rd in a northerly direction.   

SW side, from a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Fairway to a point 10m S of the SE projected kerbline of Waverley Rd in a northerly direction.   

NE side, from a point opposite the northerly projected extended kerbline of Westwood Dr for a distance of 103m in a northerly direction.  

NE side, from a point 15m of the northerly projected kerbline of Broomhall Rd for a distance of 116m in a northerly direction.  

NE side, from a point 15m S of the southerly projected kerbline of Broomhall Rd for a distance of 84m in a southerly direction.  

 

No Loading / Unloading Mon – Fri 7.00 a.m. to 10.00 a.m. & 4.00 p.m. to 7.00 p.m.  

Crescent Av, Both sides, from the NE projected kerbline of A666 Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a N easterly direction.  

Kersal Av, Both sides, from the NE projected kerbline of A666 Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a N easterly direction.  

Hospital Rd, Both sides, from the SW extended projected kerbline of A666 Bolton Rd for a distance of 15m in a S westerly direction.  

Hawthorn Dr, Both sides, from the SW extended projected kerbline of Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a S westerly direction. 

Osborne Dr, Both sides, from the SW extended projected kerbline of Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a S westerly direction.  

Ranelagh Rd, Both sides, from the SW projected kerbline of A666 Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a S westerly direction. 

Beverley Rd, Both sides, from the SW projected kerbline of A666 Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a S westerly direction.  

Waverley Rd, Both sides, from the SW projected kerbline of Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a S westerly direction.  

Fairway, Both sides, from the SW projected kerbline of Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a S westerly direction.  

Westwood Dr, N side, from the SW projected kerbline of A666 Bolton Rd for a distance of 10m in a S westerly direction 

A666 Bolton Rd, SW side, from a point 10m S of the Southern projected kerbline of Hospital Rd to a point 10m (opposite extended) NW projected kerbline of Crescent Av in 

a N westerly direction.  

NE side, from the N western projected kerbline of the northern access of Rivington Crescent to a point 10m N of the northern extended kerbline of Crescent Av in a northerly 

direction.  

SW side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Hawthorn Dr to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Hawthorn Dr in a N westerly direction. 

SW side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of Osborne Dr to a point 10m N of the northern projected kerbline of Osborne Dr in a N westerly direction.  

SW side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of the Greater Manchester Fire Service Headquarters service yard to a point 10m N of the northern projected 

kerbline of the Greater Manchester Fire Service Headquarters service yard in a N westerly direction.   

SW side, from a point 10m S of the southern projected kerbline of the Greater Manchester Fire Service Headquarters entrance to a point 10m N of the northern projected 

kerbline of the Greater Manchester Fire Service Headquarters entrance in a N westerly direction.  

SW side, from point 10m S of southern projected kerbline of Fairway to a point 10m NW projected kerbline of Ranelagh Rd in a northerly direction.  

NE side, from a point opposite the northern projected extended kerbline of Westwood Dr for a distance of 103m in a northerly direction. 

NE side, from a point 15m of the northern projected kerbline of Broomhall Rd for a distance of 116m in a northerly direction.  

NE side, from a point 15m S of the southern projected kerbline of Broomhall Rd for a distance of 84m in a southerly direction. 

SW side, from a point 10m S of the SW projected kerbline of Westwood Dr to a point 10m NW projected kerbline of Westwood Dr in a northerly direction. 

 

Existing Orders are to be amended so as to be consistent with the proposals. Copies of the proposed Orders, plans of the area and statement of the Council's reasons for 

proposing to make the above Orders may be examined at Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Rd, Swinton, M27 5DA, 9.00am-4.30pm Mon-Fri.  

 

Details can be viewed online at http://www.salford.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-travel/roads/traffic-orders/ If you wish to object to the 

proposed Orders you should send the grounds of your objection in writing to Fiona Ledden, City Solicitor: PO BOX 532, TOWN HALL, 

MANCHESTER, M60 2LA, or phlegal@manchester.gov.uk  by the 28
th
 March 2019 Quoting ref GS/OUT1093/700 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



5

7

1

3

8

7

.

4

8
8

7

.

6

1

8

7

.

4

9

8

7

.

6

0

8

7

.

5

6

8

7

.

6

2

8
7
.
5
7

8
7
.
7
1

87.56

C
L
.
8
7
.
6
7

8
7

.
5

8

8
7
.
6
9

8

7

.

5

8
8

7

.

6

7

8

7

.

5

0

8

7

.

5

7

87.45

87.57

87.39

87.48

87.37

87.27

87.06

87.08

87.09

87.00

87.03

86.91

86.89

86.78

8

6

.

8

1

8

6

.

9

3

8
6
.
8
5

8
6
.
9
4

8
7
.
1
7

8
7
.
0
4

87.02

8
7
.
1
1

86.69

86.92

87.04

87.23

87.38
87.52

87.64

87.69

87.70

8
6
.
9
2

8
7
.
0
2

87.43

87.53

87.44

87.55

87.71

87.39

87.50

87.29

87.40

87.12

87.23

86.89

87.04

86.95

86.84

86.75

86.87

86.64

86.72

86.55

86.65

86.48

86.59

86.74

86.84

8
7
.
1
7

8
7
.
0
7

8

6

.

7

1

8

6

.

7

6

86.59

86.70

87.77

87.7
1

87.64

87.55

87.59

8
7
.
6
5

87.57

87.46

87.3
3

87.18

CL.87.05

87.08

86.98

87.58

87.53

87.47

87.41

87.25

87.05

86.92

86.76

CL.86.66

86.62

W
Y

N
D

H
A

M
 
A

V
E

N
U

E

G
A

S
K

E
L
L
 
S

T
R

E
E

T

28m31m

23m 23m

A666 MANCHESTER ROAD

dr
aw

ing
 lo

ca
tio

n:

project

drawing

client

urbanvision

Urban Vision Partnership Ltd, Emerson House, Albert Street,

Eccles, Manchester, M30 0TE.  T 0161 779 4800

drawing number

project ref.

revision

approval status

Feasibility / Sketch

Design

Tender

Construction

As Built

www.urbanvision.org.uk

date

scale @ A3

drawn

checked

rev description drawn chkdate

approved

app

This drawing is copyright to Urban Vision Partnership Limited. It shall not be used without permission
for any purpose. Reproduction is only permitted by prior arrangement. Do not scale from this drawing.
All discrepancies to be related back to the originator for verification prior to commencing the works.
All dimensions are in                    unless otherwise stated.

HEALTH AND SAFETY INFORMATION
         azards, that would not                  foreseen by a reasonably competent contractor,
have been identified by the designer

Commercial in Confidence

SALFORD CITY COUNCIL

SBNI PACKAGE 3

PROPOSED TOUCAN CROSSING
A666 MANCHESTER ROAD

metres

H have been
;

22/01/2019

UV006840-P3-E.4.2-0100-03-5

J:\
UV

00
68

40
 - 

Bo
lto

n-
Sa

lfo
rd

 C
or

rid
or

\H
igh

wa
y D

es
ign

\P
ac

ka
ge

 3\
La

tes
t In

fo\
E4

.2\
TR

O\
22

01
 4.

0 L
eg

al 
ad

ve
rtis

ing
\U

V0
06

84
0-

P3
-E

.4.
2-

01
00

-0
3-

1 &
 03

-2
_D

08
 - 

Co
py

14m

18m3m

4m

18m

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



2
4

2

1

1

0

6

1
0
4

3

0

P

a
v
il
io

n

2
9

2

1

80

3

1

1

8

9
2

ST12

S
T

1
1

L
A

N
E

B
U

S

S
T

O
P

B
U

S

B
U

S

S
T

O
P

F

A

I
R

W

A

Y

W
E

S
T

W
O

O
D

 
D

R
I
V

E

100m

19m

18m
14m

3m A666 BOLTON ROAD

dr
aw

ing
 lo

ca
tio

n:

project

drawing

client

urbanvision

Urban Vision Partnership Ltd, Emerson House, Albert Street,

Eccles, Manchester, M30 0TE.  T 0161 779 4800

drawing number

project ref.

revision

approval status

Feasibility / Sketch

Design

Tender

Construction

As Built

www.urbanvision.org.uk

date

scale @ A3

drawn

checked

rev description drawn chkdate

approved

app

This drawing is copyright to Urban Vision Partnership Limited. It shall not be used without permission
for any purpose. Reproduction is only permitted by prior arrangement. Do not scale from this drawing.
All discrepancies to be related back to the originator for verification prior to commencing the works.
All dimensions are in                    unless otherwise stated.

HEALTH AND SAFETY INFORMATION
         azards, that would not                  foreseen by a reasonably competent contractor,
have been identified by the designer

Commercial in Confidence

SALFORD CITY COUNCIL

SBNI PACKAGE 3

PROPOSED TOUCAN CROSSING
A666 BOLTON ROAD

metres

H have been
;

22/01/2019

UV006840-P3-E.5.1-E.5.2-0100-03-5

J:\
UV

00
68

40
 - 

Bo
lto

n-
Sa

lfo
rd

 C
or

rid
or

\H
igh

wa
y D

es
ign

\P
ac

ka
ge

 3\
La

tes
t In

fo\
E5

.1\
TR

O 
Ad

ve
rtis

em
en

t

11m

15m
13m

3m

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1
TRAFFIC ADVISORY PANEL 

13th June, 2019

Meeting commenced:   3.10 p.m.
         “           ended:    4.55 p.m.

PRESENT: Councillor Antrobus – in the Chair

Councillors Burch, Cammell, Clarke, Dawson, Dickman, Edwards, K. Garrido, Mashiter,
N. Reynolds, Sharpe and Walker

A list of persons in attendance in respect of the matter referred to in Minute 4 is included at Appendix A

1. WELCOME AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

The Chair welcomed those present and outlined the procedure for the meeting.  He explained the 
consultative role of the Traffic Advisory Panel, indicating that a decision with regard to the proposals to be 
considered would be made at one of his future Lead Member Briefings (Planning & Sustainable 
Development), or at one of his future Joint Briefings with the Lead Member for Housing & Neighbourhoods, 
following him having considered the representations and comments made at this meeting.

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Linden and Morris.  

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor N. Reynolds indicated that he had previously submitted comments in respect of the proposed 
scheme, prior to his election as Ward Councillor for Claremont.

3. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS 

The minutes of the meeting held on 9th May 2019 were agreed as a correct record.

4. SALFORD BOLTON NETWORK IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME (SBNI – DP3) – CITY OF SALFORD
 (A666 MANCHESTER ROAD - A666 BOLTON ROAD AREA, SALFORD) (BUS LANE, PROHIBITION OF 
WAITING, LOADING – UNLOADING RESTRICTION AND MANDATORY CYCLE LANE) (TRAFFIC 
REGULATION ORDER) 2019

Consideration was given to a report of the Strategic Director Place detailing the 73 objections that had been 
received in respect of the above proposed scheme which was seeking to introduce improved bus reliability 
through the provision of Regional Centre bound bus lanes, improved bus stop provision and improved cycle 
facilities, as well as upgraded pedestrian crossing facilities.  As part of the scheme, a suite of traffic 
regulation orders were being proposed including the Bus Lanes, as well as the complementary waiting and 
loading restrictions that were required to ensure that the improvements fully realise the anticipated benefits 
for buses and general traffic, as well as cyclists and pedestrians.  The improvements would also help to 
encourage economic growth by providing better access to local town centres, employment opportunities, 
health, education, retail and leisure facilities.  Funding for the improvements had been supported by Central 
Government through the Greater Manchester Local Growth Deal.  Following consultation with the Traffic 
Management Unit, the traffic regulation orders were advertised on 7th March 2019 in respect of which 73 
objections were received.  The proposals were further reviewed and after consideration of the objections, 
further changes were made, which included the removal of loading restrictions on the side streets, which 
would assist residents and businesses whilst not adversely affecting the operation of the overall scheme.  
The amended traffic regulation order was provided in the schedules included in the report, together with the 
details of the objections that had been received and responses to the issues raised.

Matthew Mould provided additional information in relation to the intended purpose of the proposed scheme 
which was to make the transport network more efficient and easier for everyone, including public transport 
users, pedestrians, cyclists and drivers.  In particular, bus passengers would see quicker, more reliable 
journey times.

Page 63



2

Approximately 18 members of the public were in attendance at the meeting. Eight members of the public 
made representations in respect of the proposals, which are summarised below – 

 The journey time savings in the morning peak having been identified as approximately 3 minutes per 
bus and 2 minutes for general traffic per vehicle, travelling on the A666 from the M60 junction at 
Clifton to The Heights roundabout in a south easterly direction, with journey time savings being 
accrued to a lesser degree in the evening peak.  The level of benefit that would be provided by the 
scheme is not worth the expenditure and inconvenience that would be involved.

 644 people living on the main road or side streets having been consulted, more than double the 300 
bus passengers travelling during the morning peak hour.  More people would be inconvenienced 
than would benefit from the scheme.

 Members of the public having been divided into groups during the consultation on the scheme which 
had meant they were unable to provide an overall picture regarding the impact that the proposals 
would have.

 The buses that use the route not being full and often being late.

 The figures included in the report regarding the number of buses using the route being misleading.  
With the exception of the number 8, other services only use parts of the route and so the bus lane 
would, therefore, have little effect on the flow of traffic.

 The data that had been used in the traffic assessments not being up to date.

 The start/stop design of the bus lane would cause congestion to increase.

 Increased congestion would lead to an increase in air pollution.

 A lack of statistics regarding the number of cyclists currently using the route.

 What consideration had been given to the blue badge holders that would be affected by the 
proposals?

 Why the proposals prioritise bus users over car users.  Attempts have been made for many years to 
encourage people to use public transport, however, people want to make their own decisions about 
how they travel.

 Bus lanes not working – the ones at Eccles Old Road and Salford Precinct have been suspended.

 People tending not to understand the bus lane restriction signs, leading to bus lanes not being used 
during time periods when they can be used.

 The road not being wide enough for the addition of a bus lane.

 The pavement already being narrow - narrowing it further would be detrimental to the safety of 
pedestrians, particularly children who walk along the route travelling to nearby schools.

 Inconvenience that would be caused to residents due to being unable to park outside their homes.

 Cars currently being parked on the main road that would be likely to move to side streets as a result 
of the proposals.  Should the parked cars cause an obstruction then it was likely that additional traffic 
regulation orders would be introduced which would cause further inconvenience to residents.  

 Problems being caused by the traffic signals on Station Road.  The proposals would make turning 
onto Agecroft Road dangerous.

 Problems having been made worse by the work undertaken on the roundabout at Irlams o’th’Height.

 With regard to the Westwood Estate, the proposals would lead to congestion on the A666 worsening 
which would cause an increase in rat-running resulting in increased difficulties for side road traffic 

Page 64



3
joining the A666.  There is a requirement for yellow boxes at the side roads.  This request had 
previously been made through the area community committee.

 Given that there is generally very little traffic travelling out of Manchester during the morning peak, 
and travelling into Manchester during the evening peak, reference was made to the possibility of the 
bus lane operating in one direction during each time period, rather than in both directions.

 Buses not being accessible or viable for everybody.  Many older and/or disabled people prefer to use 
private hire vehicles.  The needs of private hire drivers should be considered.

Councillor Pevitt reported on research that he had undertaken with regard to buses travelling along the route.  
He suggested that instead of bus lanes, part-time signals in respect of the junction at Irlams o’th’Height 
should be considered.

The Highways Officer and representatives from TfGM made reference to the following –

 The proposed bus lanes would help to make bus travel more punctual and reliable.

 The scheme sought to implement bus lanes at locations where pinch points exist.

 It is not anticipated that queuing on the M60 or at the start of the bus lane scheme would worsen as 
a result of this scheme.  No objections have been raised by Highways England.  It is not anticipated 
that rat running along residential streets will increase as a direct result of this proposal due to the 
anticipated improvements for general traffic.  

 Consideration having been given to the provision of bus lanes in Kearsley and Clifton on the south-
eastbound approach to junction 16 of the M60, however, it is not proposed to progress bus lanes in 
those areas due to a detailed traffic modelling exercise demonstrating that these proposals would 
not result in significant journey time benefits for buses or general traffic.

 The proposed restrictions in respect of the side roads being junction protection restrictions which 
highlight, in accordance with the Highway Code, that drivers should not park close to a junction to 
enable that junction to operate effectively and that vehicles parked close to the junctions do not 
compromise the safety of road users and pedestrians.

 Standard practice having been followed in terms of the highway modelling that had been undertaken.

 With regard to the Westwood Estate, yellow boxes at the side roads are not considered to be 
justified at this time.  Following delivery of this scheme, residents would be able to submit a request 
to the area Highways Task Group for their consideration.

The Chair clarified that the bus lanes at Eccles Old Road had been suspended whilst some changes are 
being made to the car parking arrangements at Salford Royal.  The operation of the bus lanes would be 
reviewed once that work had been completed.  The bus lane at Salford Precinct was to be removed due to 
improvements that were being implemented as part of the SBNI programme which involved considerable 
investment in the area.

Panel Members discussed the proposals and made reference to the following –

o The benefits in terms of saved journey time do not seem to justify the required investment.

o The success of the A580 bus lane – reference was made to the low number of frontages that had 
been affected by that scheme.  This bus lane does not seem to be the best way to encourage people 
to use public transport.

o Reducing the width of the pavement in the identified areas may cause problems and have a negative 
impact on road safety.  It was acknowledged that the pavement is already very narrow in some 
areas.

o Whether consideration could be given to the operation of the bus lane being limited to particular 
times with appropriate signage.  Support was expressed for consideration to be given to the bus lane 
operating into Manchester during the morning peak period and out of Manchester during the evening Page 65



4
peak period, rather than in both directions simultaneously.

o Information being required regarding the consideration that had been given to the impact that the 
proposals would have on blue badge holders.

o Support for future consideration to be given to the request that had been made for yellow boxes to 
be located on the side roads of the Westwood Estate.

o Support for the situation with regard to turning right onto Agecroft Road to be reviewed.

o Support for the operation of the traffic signals at Station Road to be reviewed.  (A request was also 
made for the location of the bus stop outside the Post Office to be reviewed).

o The requirement for consideration to be given to the competing needs of all road users and to the 
need for a modal shift to be delivered with regard to the use of public transport in terms of future 
generations.

The Chair understood that the principle in respect of the implementation of the bus lanes had already been 
approved by the previous City Mayor, and the decision that he was required to make related only to the 
traffic regulation orders to be implemented as part of the scheme.  He stated that, prior to him making a final 
decision in respect of the proposed traffic regulation orders, given the underlying concern regarding the 
principle of the proposed scheme, he would like a report to be prepared for consideration by the current City 
Mayor, reviewing progress in respect of the Outline Business Case, including outcomes, value for money, 
etc., in order for him to be satisfied that policy was properly arrived at and there was no need for it to be 
reviewed.  The Chair stated that, once that matter had been determined, he would take the decision in 
respect of the proposed traffic regulation orders, having listened to the representations made at this meeting.

APPENDIX A – LIST OF ATTENDEES

TRAFFIC REGULATION 
ORDER

IN FAVOUR OBJECTING WARD COUNCILLOR

Salford Bolton Network 
Improvement Programme
(A666 Manchester Road / 
A666 Bolton Road)

Matthew Maul*     } Transport for
Anthony Murden* }  Greater
David Shaw*        }  Manchester

Joseph Hallett
Jane Morecroft*
Diane Deasey
Larry Collier*
Andrew Miller*
Thomas Rook*
Christine Fratassi
Paul Brighouse*
Niamh Brighouse
Anne Brighouse*
Alan Brighouse
Janice Pattinson*
Lynn Sumner
Carmel Heeran
Joseph Heeran
Nick Rose 
Mark Sumner
Michael Allport*

Councillor Pevitt*

Page 66



Part 1 - Open to the Public ITEM NO.

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE

TO LEAD MEMBER FOR PLANNING AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

LEAD MEMBER BRIEFING

10th September 2019

CITY OF SALFORD (VARIOUS ROADS ) TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER 2019

RECOMMENDATIONS:

That the Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable Development consider the 
contents of this report and make a decision to:
1)  Subject to recommendation 2) below, authorise the City Solicitor to take all 
necessary steps to make the Order
2)  If objections to the proposed order are received, note that a further report will be 
brought to the Executive setting out the objections, the Council's response thereto 
and the recommended course of action.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 A request has been received from the Chief Constable of Greater 
Manchester Police to introduce an Anti-Terrorism Traffic Regulation Order 
in respect of all roads within the Manchester and Salford Inner Ring Road, 
defined as the area inside the A57(M), Trinity Way, A635 and A665 but not 
including the Inner Ring Road. A plan of the covering the area of this 
proposal, within Salford, is attached to this report.

1.2 A similar request has been made to Manchester City Council for the roads 
within their area and it is intended that these proposals will be introduced 
simultaneously.

1.3 A copy of the letter from the Chief Constable is attached to this report.

2.0 BACKGROUND

Page 67

Agenda Item 3b



2.1 There is an acknowledged threat to the United Kingdom from international 
terrorism. Past experience shows that crowded places remain an attractive 
target for terrorists who have demonstrated that they are likely to target 
places that are easily accessible, regularly available and which offer the 
prospect for an impact beyond loss of life alone such as serious disruption 
or a particular economic/political impact.  

2.2 The purpose of this report is to seek approval to consult on and introduce 
an Anti-Terrorism Traffic Regulation Order (ATTRO) that will respond to and 
mitigate against this potential threat. 

2.3 Greater Manchester Police in consultation with Manchester and Salford City 
Councils have been working on a business case for an ATTRO to be in 
place for all public highways within the Manchester inner ring road. This 
would not include the inner ring road itself.

2.4 The overarching rationale for this is public safety and the need to protect 
the public from acts of terrorism. In recent years there have been a number 
of significant terrorist atrocities in mainland Europe and the UK, including 
the attack in Manchester in 2017.

2.5 In order to mitigate the threat of future attacks GMP, local authorities and 
key stakeholders have worked in partnership to put in place protective 
security arrangements to enhance public safety and provide visible 
reassurance.  

2.6 The introduction of an ATTRO will complement the continuing work being 
undertaken by both Manchester City and Salford City Security Review 
Groups, which have target hardened numerous public realm areas within 
both cities. The ATTRO will be one of a series of measures which could be 
used to provide visible reassurance and enhance public confidence in the 
safety of the city centre.

2.7 The ATTRO will only be brought into use as an operational tool under the 
direction of Greater Manchester Police, where there are sound reasons on 
the basis of a security assessment or tactical intelligence identifying the a 
likelihood of danger or risk of damage due to terrorism. Under the 
provisions of the ATTRO the Police Inspectors can commence, suspend or 
revive all or some provisions of the Order whenever they think it necessary 
for security reasons.

2.8 There are two circumstances where an ATTRO will be used; for a pre-
planned event as part of an overall security plan and as a reaction to a 
spontaneous event where there is an immediate need to protect the public. 
Wherever possible at least 7 days’ notice of restrictions would be given 
allowing the City Council to notify those likely to be affected by the 
restrictions.  Any restrictions put in place would not exceed a period of 48 
hours without prior approval of the Chief Officer of Police.

Page 68



2.9 The Police can prohibit access to any of the highways specified within the 
Order not only to vehicles but also to pedestrians, even when access to 
premises is required, when such access can only be made from the roads 
under closure. The scope of the restrictions should be proportionate and 
only last until the likelihood of danger or damage is removed or reduced in 
the judgement of the senior police officer.

2.10 The ATTRO will also be subject of an annual review by GMP and both local 
authorities, ensuring that the rationale for powers remain valid. 

3.0 PROPOSALS 

3.1 High level meetings between Manchester City Council, Salford City Council 
and GMP have resulted in the Chief Constable of Greater Manchester 
Police recommending the introduction of an Anti-terrorism Traffic Regulation 
Order (ATTRO) for Manchester city centre, including a small area which lies 
within Salford City Council, Ordsall ward. It will cover all roads within the 
Manchester and Salford Inner Ring Road as defined by the area inside 
M57(M), Trinity Way, A635 and A665, which excludes the inner ring road 
itself.  The attached plan indicates the area covered by the ATTRO.  

3.2 The schedule to the legal order will specify the area covered by this plan.  
This is due to the development in the area which often leads to changes in 
highway infrastructure in terms of loss or addition of highway and street 
name changes.  The area highlighted would allow any area of highway 
within the boundary to be closed without needing a specific list of road 
names.

3.3 All TMU members have been formally consulted on the proposal for the 
introduction of the ATTRO on 10th July 2019 and no adverse comments 
were received.

3.4 No permanent works will be located on the highway in relation to the 
ATTRO, however, measures may be introduced to enforce the ATTRO 
when it is invoked.

Deliberations of the Traffic Advisory Panel

In line with statutory obligations for advertising Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO’s), 
including ATTRO’s, the proposals were advertised the Manchester Weekly(Salford 
Edition) on 15th August 2019 for a period of 21 days.  During this time formal 
objections can be made to the proposals.  A verbal update will be provided to the 
Executive on the consultation outcome.  Any objections received will be the subject 
of a further report to the Executive which will set out the objections, provide the 
Council’s response and make a recommendation.  

Page 69



No objections to the advertised proposal have been received so far and as such this 
issue has not been considered at a meeting of the Traffic Advisory Panel.

Recommendation

That the Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable Development consider the 
contents of this report and make a decision to:
 
1)  Subject to recommendation 2) below, authorise the City Solicitor to take all 
necessary steps to make the Order
2)  If objections to the proposed order are received, note that a further report will be 
brought to the Executive setting out the objections, the Council's response thereto 
and the recommended course of action.

Appendices:

1. Notice as Advertised 
2. Plan of proposals

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  Local Transport Plan

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

Consideration has been given to the impact on equality that the proposed ATTRO 
may have but the overall objective is to protect the public from terrorism.  
Additionally, any measures invoked as a consequence of the ATTRO will be in place 
no longer than is necessary.

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: 

In considering the request for an ATTRO, regard has been given to the duty to act in 
accordance with the European Convention on Human Rights. In relation to possible 
restriction of access to property, any interference with Article 1 rights to enjoyment of 
property must be justified. Interference may be regarded as justified where it is 
lawful, pursues a legitimate purpose, is not discriminatory, and is necessary.

It must also strike a fair balance between the public interest and private rights 
affected (i.e. be proportionate). It is considered that the public interest in being 
protected by the existence and operation of the ATTRO outweighs any interference 
with private rights which is likely to occur when restrictions are in operation.

Page 70



The scope of restrictions must be proportionate and should only last until the 
likelihood of danger or damage is removed or reduced sufficiently in the judgment of 
a senior police officer.

It is considered that the Schedule to the ATTRO will ensure that any interference is 
proportionate, and, given the risks to life and property which could arise if an incident 
occurred, and the opportunity provided by the ATTRO to remove or reduce the threat 
of and/or impacts of incidents, the ATTRO is considered to be justified and any 
resulting interference legitimate. 

LEGAL POSITION

Traffic Regulation Orders 

The grounds for making traffic regulation orders are set out in Section 1 of the Road 
Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (‘the RTRA‘). The main grounds are listed below:

a) For avoiding danger to persons or other traffic using the road or any 
other road or for preventing the likelihood of such danger arising.

b) For preventing damage to the road or any building on or near the road.

c) For facilitating the passage on the road or any other road of any class of 
traffic (including pedestrians).

d) For preventing the use of the road by vehicular traffic of a kind which or 
its use by vehicular traffic in a manner, which is unsuitable, having 
regard to the existing character of the road or adjoining property.

e) For preserving the character of the road in a case where it is especially 
suitable for use by persons on horseback or on foot.

f) For preserving or improving the amenities of the area through which the 
road runs.

g) For any of the purposes specified in paragraphs (a) to (c) of subsection 
1 of section 87 of the Environment Act 1995 (Air Quality).

Terrorism

An order may be made under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984(“the Act”) 

Page 71



• section 1(1)(a) for the purpose of avoiding or reducing, or reducing the   
likelihood of, danger connected with terrorism (for which purpose the 
reference to persons or other traffic using the road shall be treated as 
including a reference to persons or property on or near the road).

• section 1(1)(b) for the purpose of preventing or reducing damage 
connected with terrorism.

• section 6 made for a purpose mentioned in section 1(1)(a) or (b) may be 
made for that purpose as qualified by subsection (1) or (2) above.

In this section of the Act “terrorism” has the meaning given by section 1 of the 
Terrorism Act 2000.

Definition of Terrorism - section 1 of the Terrorism Act 2000 (by virtue of section 
22C(6) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984) defines ‘Terrorism’ as:

(a)    The use or threat of action where:
(1)  it involves serious violence against a person; or 
(2)  it involves serious damage property; or 
(3) it endangers a person’s life, other than that of the person 

committing the action; or 
(4)  it creates a serious risk to the health or safety of the public or a 

section of the public; or 
(5)  it is designed seriously to interfere with or seriously  to disrupt an 

electronic system; and 
(b) The use or threat is designed to influence the government or to 

intimidate the public or a section of the public; and 
(c)  The use or threat is made for the purpose of advancing a political,   

religious or ideological cause

The ATTRO can only be made on the recommendation of the Chief Constable of 
Police.

Provisions          

The provisions which can be included in ATTROs are the same as for regular traffic 
regulation orders, but with the following differences –

• Pedestrians can be prevented from accessing premises which are only 
accessible to them from that road.

• Section 92 of the Act can be used to place bollards and other 
obstructions just like they can be for permanent traffic regulation orders.

• The ATTRO may authorise the undertaking of works for the purpose of, 
or for a purpose ancillary to, another provision of the ATTRO.
By virtue of 22CA of the Counter –Terrorism and Border Security Act 
2019 Any statutory requirement to publish a proposal for, or a notice of, 
the making of an order does not apply to an order made by virtue of 
section 22C if the chief officer of police for the area to which the order 

Page 72



relates considers that to do so would risk undermining the purpose for 
which the order is made.

• The ATTRO may give power to a police constable to direct that a 
provision of the ATTRO shall (to such extent as the constable may 
specify) be commenced, suspended or revived (eg. to allow a 
constable to decide when lorries are prohibited from using the road).

•  The ATTRO may confer a discretion on a police constable (eg to 
restrict use of a road by pedestrians to such number of persons as he 
considers reasonable in the circumstances).

•  The ATTRO may confer a power on a police constable in relation to the 
placing of structures or signs and may apply in connection with a 
provision of the Act with or without modifications (eg the power under 
Section 67 to place traffic signs on a road).

By virtue of 22CA of the Counter –Terrorism and Border Security Act 2019 Any 
statutory requirement to publish a proposal for, or a notice of, the making of an order 
does not apply to an order made by virtue of section 22C if the chief officer of police 
for the area to which the order relates considers that to do so would risk undermining 
the purpose for which the order is made.

General

In addition Section 122 of the RTRA requires the Council when exercising its 
functions under this Act to do so in such a way as (so far as practicable having 
regard to the matters specified below) to secure the expeditious convenient and safe 
movement of traffic and the provision of suitable and adequate parking facilities on 
and off the highway The matters specified are:

a) the desirability of securing and maintaining reasonable access to 
premises;

b) the effect on the amenities of an area;

c) the national air quality strategy prepared under Section 80 of the 
Environment Act 1995;

d) the importance of facilitating the passage of public service vehicles and 
of securing the safety and convenience of persons using or desiring to 
use such vehicles; and

e) Any other matters appearing to the Council to be relevant.          

As the local traffic authority, the Council has the duty to secure the expeditious, 
convenient and safe movement of traffic (having regard to the effect on amenities) 
(section 122 Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984). The Schedule to the draft ATTRO at 
Appendix 3 sets out requirements to ensure that any restrictions will be the minimum 
necessary to remove or reduce the danger and are consistent with the statutory 
requirements for making the ATTRO. In implementing the ATTRO the traffic impacts 
of restricting or prohibiting traffic to roads within Manchester, including, potentially 
pedestrian traffic, will be considered. In the event of a threat, the disruption to traffic 

Page 73



flow would also have to be weighed against the threat of more severe disruption and 
greater risk being caused due to failure to prevent an incident.

Having a permanent ATTRO in place covering all the highways within the City Centre 
is considered essential due to the high density nature of the City, and the widespread 
nature of potential high profile targets. 

It would mean that the Police would rely on the order being generally available as an 
operational tool but on a contingency basis that could be “activated” at any time. This 
would enable speedier activation of security measures and would meet operational 
requirements.

By way of further controls, the Schedule to the draft ATTRO requires that in most 
cases at least seven days’ notice of any restrictions must be given to persons likely 
to be affected (unless this is not possible due to urgency or where the giving of notice 
might itself undermine the reason for activating the ATTRO), and notice must also in 
any event be given to the Council and other affected traffic authorities.

The requirement for notice is intended to mitigate adverse traffic impacts by enabling 
alternative transport arrangements to be put in place. In addition, the Schedule 
prohibits any restriction being in place for more than 48 hours without the prior 
approval of the Council.

Contact: Azra Furheen Tel. 0161 234 4173

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: N/A

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: N/A

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: None

CONTACT OFFICER: Robert Owen       TEL NO: 0161 779 4848

WARD TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: Ordsall 

Ben Dolan
Strategic Director, Place

Page 74



Salford City Council proposes to make the CITY OF SALFORD (VARIOUS ROADS) 
(TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER 2019 under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. The 
effect of the proposed Order is to allow an officer of GMP to restrict or regulate pedestrian or 
vehicular traffic on a particular road should there be a security assessment or credible 
intelligence of a threat. The proposed order will cover all the roads that sit within the Salford 
boundary of the Manchester and Salford Inner Ring Road as defined by the area inside 
M57(M), Trinity Way, A635 and A665, which excludes the inner ring road itself. Existing 
Orders are to be amended so as to be consistent with the proposal. 
A copy of the proposed Order together with a plan showing the  proposal may be inspected at 
the Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5DA between 8.30 a.m. and 4.30 p.m. 
Mondays to Fridays inclusive. Details can be viewed online at  
http://www.salford.gov.uk/parking-roads-and- travel/roads/traffic-orders/.. Objections to 
proposal must be sent to me in writing to phlegal@manchester.gov.uk or address below, 
stating grounds on which they are made, no later than 8 September 2019 Please quote 
reference L/AF/OUT1093/753
Dated 15 August 2019
Signed: Ben Dolan, Strategic Director Place

 

Page 75

http://www.salford.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-%20travel/roads/traffic-orders/
mailto:phlegal@manchester.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Part 1 - Open to the Public
ITEM NO.

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF PLACE

TO THE LEAD MEMBER FOR PLANNING AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

ON 10 SEPTEMBER 2019

TITLE: Eccles Recreation Ground and Patricroft Recreation Ground – Section 106 
Investment

RECOMMENDATIONS: That the Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable 
Development approves;

1. The expenditure of £275,000 of Section 106 contributions towards open space 
improvements at Eccles Recreation Ground and Patricroft Recreation Ground.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

It is proposed to utilise a total of £275,000 of secured Section 106 contributions 
towards improvements at Eccles Recreation Ground and additional knee rail fencing 
at Patricroft Recreation Ground. Outline Proposals have been developed with the aim 
of upgrading Eccles Recreation Ground to Green Flag standard and delivering the 
improvements outlined within Salford Greenspace Strategy SPD including improved 
disabled access. Additional knee rail fencing is required at Patricroft Recreation 
Ground

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

 Eccles Recreation Ground – Outline Proposals

KEY DECISION: NO

DETAILS:

1.0 Background

Page 79

Agenda Item 3c



2

1.1 In line with the council’s Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD), Section 106 contributions were required from a development 
of 244 dwellings with associated works  at the former Newhaven Business Park 
(Section 106 Ref: 374 - 14/65186/FUL) located 150m south of Eccles 
Recreation Ground.

1.2 Initial contributions from this development have recently been received by the 
city council including £275,000 towards open space, as required by Policy OB2 
of the SPD. The signed section 106 agreement requires the open space 
contribution be directed towards projects at Eccles Recreation Ground and/or 
Patricroft Recreation Ground, Ivy Street Play Area, amenity space in Eccles 
Town Centre.

1.3 Due to the proximity of the development to Eccles Recreation Ground, and the 
statutory obligation to ensure Eccles Recreation Ground meets modern 
accessibility standards, improvements to Eccles Recreation Ground have been 
prioritised. Additional knee rail fencing will also be provided at Patricroft 
Recreation Ground to prevent unauthorised vehicular access. Any additional 
monies received via the clawback mechanism to reassess the financial viability 
of the development can be considered for future investment in Eccles 
Recreation Ground, Patricroft Recreation Ground, Ivy Street Play Area and 
amenity space in Eccles Town Centre.

2.0 Proposed Uses of the s106 funding

2.1 Ward councillors have been consulted on the proposals to utilise the section 
106 towards infrastructure improvements to Eccles Recreation Ground 
including the following: 

 Upgrading the disabled access into the park including revised entrances 
and provision of disabled parking bays adjacent to the entrances.

 Upgrading disabled access to the park’s various recreational facilities 
and the removal of steps, changes in level that currently restrict access.

 Replacing the older children’s play area.
 Replacing the Outdoor Gym.
 Replacement of seats, bins and street furniture.
 Replacement of derelict fencing.
 Replacement of derelict hard surfaces and reinstatement to grass 

(parkland). 
 Resurfacing of footpaths and filling of potholes.
 Increase the natural surveillance through the removal of over-mature 

trees and shrubs.
 New tree and other areas of planting to improve seasonal 

colour/horticultural interest.

2.2 In response to the consultation process, ward councillors have also requested 
that a proportion of the initial contribution be utilised towards additional knee 
rail fencing at Patricroft Recreation Ground.

Page 80



3

2.3 In the event that all the proposed improvements are delivered under budget it is 
further proposed that any underspend is made available for infrastructure 
improvements to Patricroft Recreation Ground. 

3.0 Recommendations 

That the Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable Development approves:

1. The expenditure of £275,000 of Section 106 contributions towards open 
space improvements at Eccles Recreation Ground and additional knee rail 
fencing at Patricroft Recreation Ground.

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 

 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (2015);
 Salford City Council Unitary Development Plan 2004-16 (2006); 
 Salford Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning Document (2019); and 
 Eccles Recreation Ground Outline Proposals

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

The improvements to the infrastructure at Eccles Recreation Ground will ensure 
barriers currently preventing level access to the park and its various recreational 
facilities are removed. This will allow the park to be accessible to all. It is considered 
that there are no adverse impacts associated with this project. Additional knee rail 
fencing at Patricroft Recreation Ground will prevent unauthorised vehicular access 
without impacting pedestrian access. 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  Low – Developers can seek to legally challenge the city 
council to claim back Section 106 monies if not used on a scheme that mitigates the 
impacts of that development and/or spent in line with the requirements of the Section 
106 agreement. 

SOURCE OF FUNDING: Section 106 Contributions received from the development 
at:

 £275,000 from former Newhaven Business Park, Barton Lane, Eccles. 
(Section 106 Ref: 374 - 14/65186/FUL);

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS N/A

Contact Officer and Extension No: Report author (s106 officer)
Date Consulted: N/A

Page 81



4

Comments: The contributions can only be invested in to the specific open space 
projects named within the respective Section 106 agreements.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

Contact Officer and Extension No: Paul Hutchings Ext 2574
Date: 29 August 2019
Comments: The £275,000 Section 106 funding as identified in the report has been 
received and is available to fund the works.

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: Not applicable

CONTACT OFFICER: Steve Davey (s106) TEL NO: Ext 3762

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: Barton

Page 82


	Agenda
	3a Salford Bolton Network Improvement Programme - A666 Manchester Road - A666 Bolton Road Area, Salford.
	Appendix D - FAQ's
	Appendex- E- SBNI - Executive Summary for Publication - TGG Update
	Appendix F, 1-2 TRO 2201- Site Notice- drg 4 1 to 4 2
	Appendix F, 2-2 TRO 2201- Site Notice- drg 5 1 to 5 2
	aTAP- UV006840-P3-E.4.2-1201 TRO
	aTAP- UV006840-P3-E.5.1-E.5.2-1201 TRO
	aTAP- UV006840-P3-E.5.1-E.5.2-1202 TRO
	aTAP-UV006840-P3-E.4.2-1202 TRO
	UV006840-P3-E.4.2-0100-03-5
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	UV006840-P3-E.5.1-E.5.2-0100-03-5
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Draft Minutes TAP 130619 Appendix G

	3b City of Salford (Various Roads) Traffic Regulation Order 2019
	Appendix 1 Notice
	Appendix 2 Location Plan

	3c Eccles and Patricroft Recreation Grounds, Barton - Section 106 Investment.

